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Wichford P.L.C. is a property investment 
company, operated from the Isle of Man, with a 
portfolio of 81 properties occupied principally by 
Central and State Government bodies in both the 
UK and Continental Europe. Our portfolio totals 
over 350,000 sq m (3.8 million sqft) and is 
independently valued at £573.5 million
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Highlights

Trading Operations Profit after tax

2009: £9.1m

Total earnings per share

2009: (7.10)p loss**

Total Portfolio at Market Values

2009: £526.9m

Trading Operations earnings per share 

2009: 0.86p**

Total recommended dividend for the year 

2009: 0.61p

Net asset value per share 

2009: 4.49p***

Total profit after tax 

2009: (£75.4m) loss

Recommended final dividend per share  

2009: 0.31p

Net Assets

2009: £47.4m

£9.6m

1.60p

£573.5m

0.90p

0.65p

5.56p

£17.0m

0.33p 

£59.0m

Other Highlights

All three UK debt facilities totalling 
£360.3m extended during the period

VBG1 debt restructuring successfully 
concluded

Weighted Average Unexpired Lease 
Term 9.1 years (2009: 8.4 years)

Indexation 63% (2009: 61%)

Occupancy rate 96% (2009: 99%)

EPRA net assets per share 

2009: 7.66p****

8.67p

Comparative notes have been adjusted to reflect the rights issue of  
shares in September 2009.
 ** See note 9 for details of the calculation of earnings per share
 *** See note 10 for details of the calculation of net asset value per share
 **** See note 23 for the calculation of EPRA net asset value per share
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At a Glance

The Company’s occupiers are 
principally Government and Central 
State bodies 

Occupancy rate of 96%

Annualised rental income of  
£45.1 million

63% of rent subject to indexation or 
fixed increases 

Weighted average unexpired lease 
term (“WAULT”) of 9.1 years

 Core Portfolio

 Active Portfolio

 Continental Europe

Wichford owns 81 properties with a wide 
geographical spread across the UK and other 
major European countries. During the year 
under review, the Company disposed of three 
and acquired nine properties.
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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to report that your Company has met the 
challenging targets set out at the time of the Rights Issue 
in September 2009. The extension of our principal UK debt 
facilities has been secured, the VBG1 facility has been 
extended, a covenant waiver has been agreed on VBG2 
and overhead costs have been reduced. This has all been 
achieved in a relatively short space of time and places the 
Company in a stronger position to meet the challenges 
facing the property market and public sector.

The financial results reflect a pleasing return to profitability 
supported by strong earnings from Trading Operations and 
revaluation gains. Trading Operations earnings per share of 
0.90 pence reflects a 4.7% increase on last year. On-going 
administration costs have been tightly controlled and interest 
expense has been reduced through the successful extension 
and restructuring of facilities at prevailing low interest 
rates. EPRA net asset value per share increased 13.2% 
to 8.67 pence. Headline net assets continue to reflect the 
significant negative fair value of interest rate swaps and the 
consolidation of the VBG negative net asset value position, 
further details of which are provided in the Financial Review.  

At a property level, capital values in the UK Portfolio benefited 
from renewed investor demand for secure income yielding 
assets, particularly in the first half of the year. However, the 
investment market for Government occupied assets has become 
increasingly two-tiered with the dual impact of a lack of funding 
for short-term leases and more recently the UK Government’s 
Comprehensive Spending Review (“CSR”) impacting the market 
for properties subject to shorter lease terms.

The reduction in Government departmental budgets 
presents both challenges and opportunities for the property 
sector, the impact of which will only be fully known in the 
medium term. We are responding to a changing market 
by revisiting our Investment Policy to provide for greater 
flexibility in the way we invest and manage existing assets. 
Further details are contained in the Business Review.

Strategic Review
As noted above, the Company has made substantial 
progress in 2010, securing its immediate funding position. 
The Board has commenced a review of Wichford’s strategic 
options post the year end. This includes addressing the 
longer term financing position of the Company and, in 
particular, the October 2012 maturities of the Delta and 
Gamma facilities which represent a significant proportion of 
the Company’s existing funding arrangements.

Rothschild have been appointed to assist in this review, 
which includes assessing interest expressed by Redefine 
International plc (“Redefine”)  in relation to a potential 
combination of Wichford and Redefine. As announced in 
November 2010, conversations are at an early stage and 
there can be no certainty that any transaction between 
Wichford and Redefine will be forthcoming. Redefine is 
Wichford’s largest shareholder, holding 21.73% of its shares.

This expression of interest by Redefine has placed the 
Company in a takeover period, as defined by the Takeover 
Code. This year’s report therefore contains additional 
reporting requirements of the Takeover Panel.

The Company will keep shareholders advised of progress 
with regard to the strategic review and in connection with 
the interest expressed by Redefine. The next scheduled 
reporting event will be the Company’s AGM in January 2011. 

Board & Management
Mark Sheardown joined the Board in January bringing with 
him over 30 years of experience in property development and 
investment. Mark has enhanced the Board’s direct property 
expertise and has already made a significant contribution 
to the Company’s investment strategy. Mark replaced Hugh 
Ward who resigned at the Company’s AGM in January 2010 
after giving years of valued service to Wichford. 

Wolf Cesman announced his retirement from the Board in 
November. On behalf of the Board, I would like to take the 
opportunity of thanking Wolf for his significant contribution 
to the Company. 

Dividend
The directors have resolved to recommend the payment 
of a final dividend of 0.33 pence per share. This reflects an 
increase of 3.1% on the interim dividend of 0.32 pence paid 
in June 2010. The total dividend proposed for the year of 
0.65 pence per share reflects an increase of 6.6% on last 
year’s figure and is covered 1.4 times by current earnings per 
share from Trading Operations. 

Outlook 
This year has seen a recovery in capital values as risk appetite 
and capital returned to the property sector. A large part of the 
recovery has however focussed on Central London where 
forecast supply and demand imbalances are expected to 
drive rental growth, particularly for prime property.

The regional city office market continues to see excess 
supply. However, the absence of new development and the 
potential for renewed take-up from the private sector should 
in time improve the strength of regionally dominant centres 
as the impact of a sustained economic recovery filters into 
regional cities.

We will continue to review the contribution of the Continental 
European Portfolio to the business, focussing on prospects 
for future returns from each of the assets and the likely capital 
requirements to meet future refinancing requirements.

In order to meet the challenges facing certain regional office 
markets, and in particular the public sector estate, we have 
set ourselves the following priorities for the coming year:

•  Secure a long term sustainable financing structure; 

•  Protect occupancy and rental income;  

•  Dispose of underperforming assets while investing for growth;

•  Reposition assets with better alternative uses; and

•  Seek opportunities to further rationalise the Group’s 
holdings in Continental Europe.

I look forward to reporting on progress against these 
priorities during the coming year. 

Philippe de Nicolay
Chairman
16 December 2010
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Overall, net asset value per share (both on an EPRA and 
IFRS basis) and earnings per share (both in total and that 
from Trading Operations) were higher than 2009. The 
priorities surrounding near term facility maturities were 
successfully delivered which, together with investments 
completed during the year and overhead cost reduction 
initiatives, contributed to a successful year.

An increase in the vacancy rate from less than 1.0% to 3.7% 
was anticipated and will result in additional holding costs 
while asset management initiatives for these properties 
are developed. A planning application for Lyon House, 
Harrow, which reflects 2.6% of the existing vacancy, will be 
submitted in the first half of 2011. 

Strategic Priorities for 2009/2010
A number of targets were set out at the time of the Rights 
Issue and have been the priorities for the 2009/2010 financial 
year. In all cases these targets have been met or exceeded, 
most notably the extension of four debt facilities totalling 
£418.0 million.

Business Review

The Group’s return to profitability 
reflected continued strong underlying 
earnings from Trading Operations 
and revaluation gains following 
an improved investment market, 
particularly for longer term secure 
income yielding assets.

Ty Cambria House, Cardiff 
34,458 sqft on seven floors let  
to the Environment Agency until  
August 2018
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2009/2010 Priorities Actions

 Extend maturity of key UK debt facilities 
(Financing & Capital page 17)

 

Successfully conclude the VBG1 debt restructuring 
(Financing & Capital page 17)

 
 

 

Continued overhead reduction 
(Income Statement & EPS page 16)

Profitable investment of available cash resources 
(Acquisitions page 13)

Achieved a WAULT in excess of 7.5 years from October  
2012 on both the Delta and Gamma facilities

Delta and Gamma facilities extended to October 2012

Zeta facility extended until May 2013 and cost of debt 
reduced by a fixed 130 basis points due to the new  
interest rate swap

Facility extended to January 2012

LTV covenant waiver granted for the extended  
maturity period

Interest rate caps purchased to exploit low interest  
rate environment 

Continued income return in excess of interest and 
amortisation requirements

In addition, a LTV covenant waiver was agreed on  
the VBG2 facility

Revised Investment Advisers agreement implemented

Key service contracts re-negotiated or re-tendered

Streamlined corporate structure to yield future savings

Savings in the current year of £0.6 million1

Investments of £58.2 million completed in 2009/2010

Average lease length of 24 years

New acquisitions in the year increased in value by  
2.1% over the purchase price

Available cash balances of £34.6 million (excluding  
restricted cash)

Note: 1 See explanatory table in Financial Review

Sidlaw House, Dundee 
61,740 sqft on two floors let to 
Secretary of State for Transport,  
Local Government and the Regions
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Business Review continued

Our Market
Economic Overview
Economic growth during 2010 has been stronger than 
expected, with the most recent GDP figures showing 
growth ahead of consensus. However, the possibility of a 
protracted weak economic recovery cannot be ruled out.  
A sustained period of fiscal tightening and a soft labour 
market are likely to result in below trend economic growth 
for an extended period.

The expectation of lower growth and lower inflation is 
reflected in historically low interest rates and bond yields 
which should provide some level of support to capital 
values. The timing and return of interest rates to more 
conventional levels needs to be monitored closely and will 
have a material effect on the market’s investment decisions. 
The Company has employed the current low interest rate 
environment to good effect in the extension and 
restructuring of two debt facilities.

Our Business
Wichford’s predominantly Central and State Government 
tenants provide the Company with a secure rental income 
stream and a historically low vacancy rate. Many of the 
Company’s UK tenants provide “core” government 
functions with associated public interfaces such as Job 
Centres, Courts and HMRC functions, many of which have 
local occupation obligations. The Group’s strategy to 
incorporate inflation related rental increases into leases has 
resulted in 63% of rental income being linked to either CPI, 
RPI or in a small number of cases fixed increases.

DSA, Gillingham 
Single storey office with a 
tarmacadamed motorcycle 
manoeuvring area let to the Secretary 
of State for Communities and Local 
Government until January 2050 with a 
tenant break option in March 2025

Lindsay House, Dundee 
39,224 sqft on three floors let to  
the Secretary of State for the 
Environment until May 2023 with  
a tenant break option in May 2018
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Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) 
In order to drive cash flow growth and protect income 
security Wichford uses the following KPIs to monitor 
performance:

•  Occupancy – 96% (2009: 99%)

•  WAULT – 9.1 years (2009: 8.4 years)

•  Indexation – 63% (2009: 61%)

Both the WAULT and indexation measures improved during 
the year following the acquisition of long-dated leases and 
the removal of three break clauses (see Asset 
Management). All three DSA Driving Centres acquired 
during the year are subject to UK RPI indexation. 
Occupancy reduced following lease expiries at Lyon House, 
Harrow and St Anne House, Croydon. Initiatives for these 
properties, including the potential for redevelopment of 
Lyon House are underway. 

Occupational Markets
Occupational demand in regional office markets remains 
subdued with the impact of the Government’s CSR 
expected to negatively impact markets with an historic 
reliance on the public sector. Higher vacancy levels outside 
of Central London are expected to restrain future rental 
growth although performance across regional markets is 
anticipated to vary significantly. Dominant regional centres 
are expected to outperform and follow Central London’s 
recovery as a result of a stronger more resilient private 
sector with a lower reliance on the public sector. 

The lack of new space under construction in regional 
markets is one positive aspect that should serve to limit any 
rise in vacancy rates. Speculative development in regional 
locations is also expected to be restricted by current rental 
levels and the availability of funding.

The UK Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review
The CSR announced in October 2010 is the biggest 
programme of spending reductions in the UK for decades 
as the Government aims to reduce the public deficit. On 
average, Government departments are expected to 
experience budget cuts of 19% over the next four years. 

The announcement identified certain high level initiatives in 
respect of the Government’s property estate which, 
together with the establishment of a Government Property 
Unit, aims to reduce the overall estate and drive efficiency 
savings. The proposed establishment of two trial property 
vehicles in London and Bristol will centralise the control of 
the Government estate in these areas, co-ordinating 
requirements between departments and ensuring a more 
strategic approach to the management of occupational 
requirements. 

The Cabinet Office’s Efficiency and Reform Group also 
announced the requirement for departments to obtain 
approval for all new leases and lease renewals and 
extensions. Business cases to support any new lease 
commitments are expected to be required until 2015. 

Newfoundland Street, Bristol 
31,721 sqft on four floors with  
28 car parking spaces mainly let  
to Secretary of State for Health



Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010
8

Business Review continued

While these measures will result in an overall reduction in 
demand from Government occupiers, Wichford’s portfolio 
has a number of defensive characteristics and the potential 
to take advantage of changes in public sector property 
requirements.

•  The Group’s UK Portfolio is predominately occupied by 
Central Government bodies, many of which are core 
services and/or public facing. 

•  The UK Portfolio has limited exposure to quangos and 
none have been identified for closure. 

•  A significant portion of the UK Portfolio (47.7% by UK rent 
roll) falls under the Trillium PRIME and Mapeley contracts, 
neither of which are directly subject to the ‘moratorium’ 
on new or extended leases.

•  No more than 3.3% of the Company’s total rent roll has a 
break or expiry in any one year for the next three years.

The CSR does however require an increasingly critical 
review of the long term demand for certain assets. 
Improving the overall quality of the Company’s portfolio will 
be targeted through selective acquisitions and sales and 
investment into well located stock. 

Adapting to Change 
As the Government looks to rationalise and achieve 
efficiency savings across its estate, the Company will 
continuously review its investment criteria and portfolio in 
response to these changes. 

A revised Investment Policy will be proposed at the 
forthcoming AGM which, amongst other things, will provide 
a greater scope for redevelopment and asset management 
of the existing portfolio. The overall focus on secure income 
yielding assets from predominantly Central and State 
Government occupiers or tenants will be unchanged but 
with greater flexibility to ensure profitable alternative uses 
or redevelopment can be pursued where the asset no 
longer meets the occupational requirement.

Future investment will also look to meet the targets and 
challenges facing the Government sector. Co-location of 
departments, shared services, sustainability and the 
efficient use of space and energy are all areas that will drive 
future public sector occupation and therefore Wichford’s 
investment strategy. 

Parliament Square, Edinburgh 
9,404 sqft Grade A listed building  
on three floors let to the City of 
Edinburgh Council until January 2022
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Portfolio
The portfolio has seen changes to support the extension  
of the Company’s debt facilities, take advantage of 
opportunities in the investment market and to reduce 
exposure to assets with limited growth potential.  
The number of properties in the portfolio increased to 81 
(September 2009: 75) following 9 acquisitions and 3 sales.

Valuation
The valuation of the Group’s portfolio was £573.5 million 
as at 30 September 2010 (September 2009: £526.9 million). 
The UK Portfolio increased in value by £14.8 million or 4.0% 
on a like-for-like basis, driven largely by improved values 
from longer leases on Core Properties. The Continental 
European Portfolio decreased 3.3% on a like-for-like basis 
in local currency terms; however the relative weakness of 
the Euro during the period resulted in a 9.1% decrease in 
Sterling terms. 

       Continental 
    UK Core  UK Active  European 
Portfolio Statistics    Properties Properties UK Portfolio Portfolio Total

Properties    51 24 75 6 81
Area (sqft 000’s)    1,801 1,004 2,805 1,000 3,805
Property values (£m)    303.2 134.1 437.3 136.2 573.5
% of total     52.9 23.4 76.3 23.7 100.0
Net initial yield (%)    6.93 8.30 7.35 7.76 7.43
Annualised rental income (£000’s)    22,217 11,762 33,979 11,116 45,095
Average rent per sqft (£)    12.34 11.72 12.11 11.12 11.85
WAULT (years)    11.09 4.29 8.64 10.38 9.07
Indexed-linked rents and fixed increases (%)   70.0 21.1 50.5 100 62.7

Note: Initial yields and rents for the Continental European portfolio reflect gross rents before deductions for irrecoverable costs

       Movement 
Portfolio Valuations     Value as at Proportion of From 30 Sept Movement 
£m     30 Sept 2010  Portfolio 2009  %

UK Core Properties     246.8 43.0% 14.1 6.1%
UK Active Properties     134.0 23.4% 0.7 0.5%
UK Portfolio     380.8 66.4% 14.8 4.0%
Continental European Portfolio      136.2 23.7% (13.7) (9.1%)
Total properties held throughout the year     517.0 90.1% 1.1 0.2%
Acquisitions     56.5 9.9% 1.1 2.1%
Total Portfolio     573.5 100% 2.2 0.4%

Notes:  
1) the like-for-like analysis re-classifies properties in prior periods as Core or Active dependent on their current classification  
2) The movement in new acquisitions reflects an increase in value against the purchase price before transaction costs from their date of acquisition  
3) Like-for-like movements exclude the movement on capitalised items on the consolidated statement of financial position

DSA, Uxbridge 
Driving Centre let to Secretary  
of State for Communities and  
Local Government until April 2050  
with a tenant break at April 2030
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Overall, properties held throughout the year increased  
£1.1 million or 0.2%, although this was impacted by a 6.1% 
depreciation of the Euro against Sterling. 

Valuation movements in the second half of the year were 
broadly unchanged in the UK. Core Properties were 
supported by investor demand and transactional evidence 
and reflected a marginal 0.4% like-for-like uplift whereas 
Active Properties declined 0.8%; largely a reflection of the 
vacancies at Lyon House, Harrow and St Anne House, 
Croydon. Values of the Continental European Portfolio 
declined 2.6% in local currency terms; a result of 
decreasing unexpired lease terms coupled with subdued 
occupational and investment markets.

Investments made during the year increased in value over 
their purchase price (before capitalised acquisition costs) 
by £1.1 million or 2.1%. Acquisitions were predominantly 
focussed on long-dated government leases which proved 
to be an exceptionally competitive sector of the investment 
market. Securing these specific properties, largely through 
off-market transactions, was critical to ensuring the 
extension of the Group’s two key UK borrowing facilities.  

Despite strong income returns, capital values for the UK 
regional office market have lagged as the recovery has 
been led by investment activity in Central London and the 
expectation of supply and demand imbalances driving 
rental growth in the Capital. 

In addition, the investment market for Government 
occupied property has differentiated strongly between 
short and long-dated leases; initially due to a lack of bank 
funding for short-dated leases, and more recently due to 
concerns over reduced public sector demand for offices 
and the impact of the CSR. This is reflected in the 
valuations of the Core and Active properties at net initial 
yields of 6.93% and 8.30% respectively. 

Business Review continued

Wren House, Chelmsford 
13,857 sqft on three floors with  
58 car parking spaces let to  
The First Secretary of State

Crescent Centre, Bristol 
88,503 sqft in five blocks mainly  
let to the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government 
until 2023 subject to a tenant break 
option in 2021
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Measuring Performance
The Company joined the IPD Portfolio Analysis Service in 
2010 to provide independent measurement of underlying 
property performance against selected benchmarks. 

The UK and Continental European Portfolio’s total return  
for all benchmarked assets as measured by IPD was 11.5% 
and (0.5%) respectively. By comparison the IPD benchmark 
(UK monthly and quarterly valued offices) produced a total 
return of 22.1% over the same period to 30 September 2010.  

The stronger benchmark performance was largely 
attributable to the Central London sector of the benchmark 
(to which Wichford has no exposure) which produced a 
total return of 28.9% for the same period. The other sector 
components of the benchmark, Rest of South East and 
Rest of UK, produced total returns of 14.5% and 14.9% 
respectively. 

Asset Management
Lettings & Lease Extensions
A flexible leasing policy has resulted in a number of 
successful lettings and lease extensions in a challenging 
occupier market. Vacancy increased across the portfolio to 
3.7% (September 2010: less than 1%), largely attributable to 
the anticipated non-renewal of leases at Lyon House, 
Harrow and St Anne House, Croydon. Vacancy excluding 
Lyon House stands at 1.0% – planning for the re-
development of Lyon House is underway.

London & South East 15%

Eastern 2%

Midlands 12%

Scotland 8%

South West 9%

Europe 24%

The North 27%

Wales 3%

Regional Breakdown (by value)

Note: 1 Excluding capitalised acquisition costs
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The following lettings and lease extensions were achieved 
during the period:

Bristol, Crescent Centre
A direct lease was completed with a previous sub-tenant 
for 2,935 sqft of space.

Negotiations are on-going with an existing tenant to take 
5,865 sqft in April 2011 replacing the Probate Registry who 
are due to vacate at the end of their lease term. The terms 
being agreed are for a ten year term with breaks at years 
three and five at a commencing rent of £11.50 per sqft.

Negotiations for lease extensions on 11,551 sqft are 
underway in order to make various departmental lease term 
co-terminus in line with the asset management 
opportunities identified on acquisition. 

Hartlepool, Ward Jackson House
Lease extension until 2023 with a break in 2018.

Billingham, Theatre Buildings
Lease extension until 2023 with a break in 2018.

Birmingham, Aqueous 2
Removal of break clause providing an unexpired term  
to 2015.

Plymouth, Centre Court
New lease completed to Plymouth Teaching Primary Care 
Trust for a six year term until February 2016 with a break 
option in 2013.

Plymouth, West Point
2,269 sqft along with three car spaces have been assigned 
from Principle Leasehold Properties to the Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government.

London, Newington Causeway
Heads of terms have been agreed with Trillium PRIME for a 
new lease on the ground, first and second floors until 2023 
with a break option in 2018, at a commencing rent of 
£315,000 per annum.

Indexed-linked Rent Reviews
Inflation in the UK has consistently remained above the Bank 
of England’s 2.0% target benefiting rent reviews subject to 
CPI or RPI. Ten rent reviews were agreed or settled during 
the year providing an annualised uplift of £718,544.

Expiry Profile
Wichford’s near term UK expiry profile reflects a relatively 
small exposure to lease break options and expiries over the 
next three years. No more than 3.3% of the Company’s total 
rent roll has a break or expiry in any one year for the next 
three years. In addition, £0.4 million of lease breaks or 
expiries in 2011 have either passed their notice period date 
or are in lawyer’s hands for renewal.

Five Year Expiry Profile
 UK £m     Europe £m     % Total rent roll  

Note: all expiries are taken to the earlier of any tenant break option or lease expiry

Low average rental levels of £11.85 psf continue to provide 
value for money in an environment where budgetary 
considerations are at the forefront of decision making. 
Despite the challenges posed from the Government’s current 
stance on lease renewals, 90,296 sqft equating to £1.3 million 
of rent p.a. has been renewed or extended during the year.

Occupier Profile
 Rent (£m)     Passing rent % 

Business Review continued
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Development Opportunities
A planning application is underway for Lyon House, Harrow. 
A residential-led mixed use scheme in the order of  
220,000 sqft is being proposed which includes the potential 
acquisition and consolidation of the neighbouring site.  
The redevelopment represents an exciting opportunity  
to enhance value from a well located site which lends itself 
to a higher alternative use value.

An amendment to the existing Investment Policy is being 
proposed at the Company’s AGM in January 2011 to 
provide greater flexibility in the way Wichford invests and 
manages existing assets. The ability to undertake 
significant redevelopment projects, utilising joint venture 
partners where appropriate, has become increasingly 
important to ensure Wichford maximises value from its 
existing portfolio. 

Acquisitions
Nine acquisitions were made during the year totalling  
£58.2 million. Investment activity focussed particularly on 
properties with long-dated leases; £29.7 million was 
invested in six properties with unexpired terms in excess of 
14 years. In terms of the amount of capital required to meet 
the debt extension hurdle on the key UK debt facilities, this 
proved to be a successful investment strategy freeing up 
cash for additional investment.

Sales
The sale of St Cloud in September 2010 resulted in a 
successful exit from France, simplifying the portfolio and 
corporate structure. The sales price of €6.13 million was 
3.1% above the March 2010 valuation in local currency 
terms. Washington and Redditch were sold in the second 
half of the year. In both cases, uncertain longer term 
occupational demand for the properties supported the 
recycling of capital into new acquisitions. Both Washington 
and Redditch were sold at or above their last valuation. 
The loss on sale in profit or loss reflects other capitalised 
costs, currency translation costs and sales costs 
associated with these investments.

Continental European Portfolio
Despite a negative net asset value position on the VBG1 
and VBG2 portfolios (see Financial Review), these assets 
continue to produce positive earnings for the Group, 
particularly after the recent restructuring of the VBG1 
facility. However, the Continental European Portfolio will 
continue to be reviewed in light of its current and potential 
future contribution to Group profits, opportunities to 
recycle capital back into the UK market (as evidenced by 
the recent St Cloud sale) and the potential capital 
requirements associated with refinancing the VBG and 
other European funding facilities. The non-recourse nature 
of the Group’s Continental European investments provides 
the Company with a wide range of options at its disposal.

Summary of 2009/2010 Acquisitions
 
Property  Tenant/Occupier Cost £m Net Initial Yield

Uxbridge, DSA  DSA  6.0 5.55%
Gillingham, DSA DSA 3.8 6.50%
Bristol, Crescent Centre HMRC, Employment Tribunals 14.8 7.89%
Aberdeen, West Tullos Aberdeen City Council 2.2 4.50%
Edinburgh, Parliament Square Edinburgh City Council 6.0 5.54%
Wigan, DSA DSA 3.7 4.89%
Leeds, St George House Leeds, City Council 11.4 3.71%
Weymouth, Westwey House JobCentre, DWP 2.6 4.20%
Leeds, Park Place Leeds City Council 7.7 8.12%
Total  58.2

Summary of 2009/2010 Sales
 
Property  Tenant Sales Price  Exit Yield

St Cloud  ACE €6.13m 8.9%
Redditch BMW, North East Worcestershire College £2.95m 9.2%
Washington HMRC £2.45m 7.7%
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Risks & Opportunities
The Group is subject to a variety of risk factors arising from 
the overall economic environment, supply and demand within 
the real estate investment and capital markets, complex 
regulatory and legislative environments, financial risks as well 
as the Group’s own properties, tenants and suppliers.

The principal risks to the Group are managed and controlled 
in the following way: 

Key Risks Management Actions in 2010

 Market risk

 
Investment risk

 
Financial Risks
 
Interest rate risk

 
Financing requirements

 
Exchange rate risk

 
Tax

 
Regulatory risk

The Group consistently monitors 
economic, investment and capital 
market conditions 

The Group manages the investment 
process by thoroughly evaluating each 
acquisition introduced to it by the 
Investment Adviser or others 

 
 
 

 

Interest rate exposure is managed 
by having debt with fixed or capped 
interest rates through the use of 
interest rate derivatives

 

Bank borrowings are secured by fixed 
and floating charges over the assets 
and income streams of the Company 
and the Group. The principal covenants 
relating to these borrowings are 
interest cover ratios. The majority of the 
Group’s facilities do not have on-going 
loan to value covenants

The Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange rate movements through its 
investments in Continental Europe

Debt funding for all Continental 
European investments is taken out 
in local currency to match revenue 
streams and financing costs and 
minimise exposure to foreign exchange 
rate movements 

Independent and regular tax advice is 
sought on property transactions as well 
the Group’s overall structure

The Group manages these risks by 
appointing managers, administrators 
and advisers, who are familiar with 
regulatory requirements, to ensure 
that the activities of the Group 
are compliant with all applicable 
regulations

Zeta and VBG1 facilities extended at 
low prevailing interest rates – overall 
weighted average cost of debt reduced

A revised Investment Policy is being 
proposed to provide for greater 
flexibility in the way the Company 
invests and manages existing assets 
and to ensure it meets the objectives  
of the Company and responds to 
current market conditions

 

At the year end all of the Group’s loans 
(except for VBG1) were at effective 
fixed rates after taking account of 
interest rate swaps

The VBG1 facility benefits from interest 
rate caps at 2.5%

Delta and Gamma facilities extended  
to October 2012

Zeta facility extended to May 2013

VBG1 facility extended to January 2012 
and LTV covenant waiver agreed

VBG2 LTV covenant waiver agreed
 

All foreign exchange derivatives were 
closed during the period 

 
 
 
 
 
 

KPMG were appointed during the  
year to review the Group structure

Further commentary on Financial Risk Management is contained in note 17 on page 54.
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2010/2011 Priorities 

 Sustainable financing structure 
 

Strategic Review 

Protect future occupancy and rental income 

Reposition assets with better alternative uses 

Sale of underperforming assets

Develop refinancing strategy ahead of key October 2012 
debt maturities 

Strategic review to be completed 

Detailed review of individual properties against 
Government’s long term occupational objectives and 
regional office markets

Provide flexible rental agreements where necessary

Reduce vacancy rates and irrecoverable costs 

Identify assets for conversion or redevelopment

Progress Harrow planning application  

Sell assets with limited re-letting or redevelopment potential

Seek opportunities for an orderly exit from Continental 
Europe

Sale of smaller non-core assets

Looking Forward - Strategic Priorities 2010/2011 
Following a successful year in which the immediate  
funding requirements and debt maturities were resolved, 
the Company is now on a considerably stronger footing  
to address the issue of a long-term sustainable financing 
structure as well as the challenges posed by the UK  
budget deficit and its anticipated impact on the 
Government’s occupational requirements. 

Strategic Review
The success in extending all three of the Company’s UK 
debt facilities has provided security over the immediate 
funding position however, given the Group’s gross loan to 
value ratio of 90% (UK 82%), there is a clear requirement to 
address the longer term financial structure of the Company. 
The Board has commenced a review of Wichford’s strategic 
options including addressing the longer term financing 
position of the Company, in particular the October 2012 
maturities of the Delta and Gamma facilities.  

Atholl house, Aberdeen 
56,268 sqft on seven floors let  
to The First Secretary of State  
until May 2016
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Financial Review

The Group’s financial results benefited from a stronger 
investment market in the UK and strong underlying earnings 
from Trading Operations. Total profits and earnings per share 
from Trading Operations were up year on year.

Income Statement and Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share from Trading Operations  
were 0.90 pence (2009: 0.86 pence), up £0.5 million or  
4.7% showing resilient underlying earnings strength.

A £10.1 million revaluation gain (2009: loss of £80.7 million)  
on investment properties was driven by a stronger 
investment market in the UK, particularly in the first half of  
the year. Revaluation gains supported a profit after tax of 
£17.0 million (2009: loss of £75.4 million). Basic earnings per 
share for the year were 1.60 pence compared to a loss of 
7.10 pence in 2009. 

Revenue
Revenue for the year was marginally lower at £44.3 million 
(2009: £44.8 million), a reflection of lower occupancy ratios. 
Lease expiries at Lyon House, Harrow and St Anne House, 
Croydon in the second half of the year largely offset income 
from new acquisitions. 

Administrative Expenses
A number of actions were taken throughout the year to 
reduce operating costs. These changes have benefited the 
period under review, however the full impact is expected in 
the next financial year. 

All of the Company’s major service contracts were  
re-negotiated or re-tendered. New or amended contracts 
have been agreed with the Company’s administrator and 
valuers. In addition, and as announced during the year, 
KPMG have been engaged as the Independent Auditor 
following a competitive tender process.

Allied to this the Company has converted its Isle of Man 
subsidiaries to being registered under the Isle of Man 
Companies Act 2006 which will reduce the operating costs 
of each of these subsidiaries going forward.  

Administrative expenses included an accrual of  
£0.4 million for performance fees to the Investment Adviser. 
This grant-date fair value of equity share-based payment 
awards granted to the Investment Adviser is recognised as 
an expense, with the corresponding increase in equity, over 
the period the Investment Adviser becomes entitled to the 
awards. This amount has not been paid to the Investment 
Adviser as any performance fee will be satisfied at the 
end of the three year assessment period by the issuing of 
new shares in the Company. Due to the potential number 
of shares that could be issued under the performance fee 
arrangements the Company also shows diluted earnings per 
share. The effect is to reduce the earnings per share from 
1.60 pence to 1.58 pence.

Net Finance Costs 
Finance costs under Trading Operations were down year on 
year by £1.0 million following the extension of the Zeta and 
VBG1 facilities at lower prevailing interest rates. 

A new interest rate swap was taken out at the time of the 
Zeta facility extension to benefit from a lower interest rate 
over the extended maturity period. The new effective fixed 
rate (including margin) is 3.88% (previously 5.18%). See 
Financing and Capital for further details. 

The closing out of the old Zeta interest rate swaps has led 
to them being discontinued prospectively. £0.7 million of 
the cumulative balance in the cash flow hedge reserve was 
reclassified from other comprehensive income to the profit 
or loss under Other Items. This is a non-cash charge. 

Key Service Contracts (£000’s)     2009/2010 2008/2009 Change Change

Investment management fee      3,086 3,483 397 11.4%
Audit fees     110 239 129 54.0%
Administration contract      254 279 25 9.0%
Valuers’ fees      127 152 25 16.5%
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The VBG1 facility has been restructured with interest costs 
now based on three month Euribor plus a margin of 1.1%. 
Total interest costs are capped at 3.60% through the 
purchase of interest rate caps with a strike rate of 2.50%. 
See Financing and Capital for further details.

The new VBG1 hedging instruments have not been 
designated as cash flow hedges and changes in fair  
values will be reflected in profit and loss rather than equity. 
The Company shows such changes in Other Items as a 
finance cost.

Taxation 
The overall positive tax charge for the year includes a  
£0.4 million release of prior year deferred tax provisions.  
The overall tax charge accrued for current tax for the year  
is £0.2 million.

The Company also notes the Exposure Draft (“ED”) 
published by the International Accounting Standards Board 
on 12 September 2010 entitled “Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets” (proposed amendments to IAS 12) as 
this proposes a change to the way deferred tax is looked at 
for investment properties. Its main proposal is to assume 
that the cost of an investment property is recovered by its 
sale unless this is rebutted by the owners of the property. 
The Directors estimate that, if this ED was implemented now, 
the deferred tax liability of the Group would fall from  
£1.1 million as shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial position to £0.2 million. 

Dividend
The Directors are proposing to pay a final dividend of 0.33 
pence per share and a resolution for this will be put to the AGM 
in January 2011. This will bring the total proposed dividend 
related to the profits of the year to 0.65 pence per share  
(2009: 0.61 pence) - an increase of 6.6%.The dividend cover 
ratio for the year based on earnings from Trading Operations 
is 1.4 times. 

Statement of Financial Position & Net Asset Value
At 30 September 2010, Group net assets were £59.0 million, 
up from £47.4 million at 30 September 2009. The key factors 
behind the 1.1 pence per share change were:

•  Revaluation gains on investment property of £10.1million;

•  Profit excluding revaluation gains of £6.9 million;

•  Dividend payments of £6.7 million; and

•  A loss on foreign currency movements of £0.6 million.

Net asset value per share increased 23.8%, to 5.56 pence 
(2009: 4.49 pence). EPRA net asset value per share which 
excludes the fair value of derivatives and deferred tax was 
8.67 pence (2009: 7.66 pence).

The current negative fair value of derivatives of (£32.1) 
million or (3.02) pence per share reflects the historically low 
interest rate environment and is the principal factor behind 
the substantial variance between IFRS and EPRA net asset 

value measures. The (£32.1) million currently incorporated 
in net assets will unwind as each facility and its associated 
interest rate swaps nears maturity. (£24.2) million relates 
to the Delta and Gamma interest rate swaps which mature 
together with the facilities in October 2012 – the fair value 
will reduce to zero from now to maturity. 

As noted in the Business Review, current Group net 
assets consolidates the negative net asset value of the 
VBG portfolio. As at 30 September 2010, the total of the 
investment property values, borrowings secured against 
these assets, derivative fair values and cash withheld for 
amortisation reflected negative £21.8 million or 2.05 pence 
per share (excluding any trade receivables, trade payables 
or any other balances associated with these investments). 
Despite the negative contribution to net assets, the VBG 
portfolio continues to contribute positively to earnings 
from Trading Operations. The non-recourse nature of these 
investments provides the Company with a wide range of 
options in assessing the future strategy for these assets.

Total borrowings of £514.9 million (2009: £528.9 million) are 
lower following amortisation of £3.8 million on the Hague, 
VBG1 and VBG2 facilities with the balance of the movement 
due to foreign exchange movements. 

Cashflow
As at 30 September 2010 the Group had a total of  
£41.7 million (2009: £100.0 million) of cash and equivalents  
of which all but £0.8 million was available to the Group after  
the payment of interest on the borrowing facilities in  
October 2010.

The Group acquired nine new properties for a total cost of 
£58.2 million and disposed of three properties generating 
£8.2 million in receipts with the proceeds of the Washington 
sale not received until after the year end.

Within operating activities, cash generated from the profit 
of the Group was £12.1 million after the payment of finance 
costs. In addition to this, the Group paid £0.8 million in 
tax and reduced trade and other payables by £8.8 million. 
A major component of the reduction in trade and other 
payables was the change from quarterly to monthly rental 
payments on 26 properties.

Financing and Capital 
The focus for the year has been on the extension of debt 
maturities. The successful extension of all three of the UK 
facilities, totalling £360.3 million, as well as the positive 
restructuring of the VBG1 facility has exceeded the targets 
set out at the time of the Rights Issue in September 2009.

Both the Delta and Gamma facilities were extended to 
October 2012 following the successful acquisition and 
substitution of six long-dated leases into these facilities. 
An investment of £29.7 million was made in connection 
with these acquisitions specifically targeted to meet the 
extension hurdle of 7.5 years from October 2012.
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The early extension of the Zeta facility was successfully 
negotiated in July 2010. The facility has been extended for 
a further two year period until May 2013 with an unchanged 
margin of 1.15%. Interest rate hedging for the facility was 
extended to the new maturity date at a new effective fixed 
rate of 3.88% (previously 5.18%).

The VBG1 facility was successfully restructured extending 
the term to January 2012 with the loan to value covenant 
waived for the extended period. Interest rate payments are 
subject to three month Euribor, with the maximum effective 
interest rate capped at 3.60% (including margin) through the 
purchase of interest rate caps. 

The VBG1 restructuring has resulted in a substantial 
reduction in interest payments in comparison to the previous 
effective fixed rate of 4.27%. The restructuring provides 
for releases to the Group of up to €219,000 per quarter. 
Amortisation remains unchanged at 1.25% with all surplus 
funds to be applied to additional amortisation at the Loan 
Servicer’s discretion.

The Company continues to hold discussions over options 
to extend or restructure the VBG2 facility maturing in April 
2011. In the interim a waiver of the LTV covenant has been 
granted.

The weighted average cost of debt (including VBG1 taken at 
the year end three month Euribor rate) is 5.00% (September 
2009: 5.34%)

Hedging
The Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate caps to 
limit its exposure to interest rate movements. 

For facilities to which interest rate swaps are attached the 
interest rates are fixed for the duration of the facility. This 
is the case for all of the Group’s facilities except VBG1. 
For VBG1 the Group has interest rate caps which limit the 
exposure to upward movements of interest rates while 
allowing the Group to take advantage of falls in interest 
rates. These interest rate caps are not designated as cash 
flow hedges and any changes in their fair value will be taken 
to profit and loss rather than through equity.

During the year the Group cancelled the interest rate swaps 
associated with the Zeta facility and entered into a new one 
to take advantage of lower interest rates to the end of the 
extended maturity period. The cost of cancelling the existing 
interest rate swaps was incorporated in the new swap rate 
which will result in movements in fair value being attributed 
to profit and loss rather than equity as hedge accounting will 
not be applied prospectively. 

Exchange Rates
The average Euro to Sterling exchange rate for the year to  
30 September 2010 was 1.15088 (2009: 1.14662).

The closing Euro to Sterling exchange rate at 30 September 
2010 was 1.16170 (2009: 1.09120).

    Interest Cover Interest Cover  LTV 
   Debt Ratio Covenant LTV Covenant 
Facility  Lender Maturity £m % % % %

Delta  Windermere XI CMBS  October 2012 114.6 135.3 125 89.8 n/a
Gamma Windermere VIII CMBS  October 2012 199.7 154.7 115 89.9 n/a
Hague SNS Property Finance July 2014 18.9 149.2 n/a1 92.8 n/a
Halle Windermere XIV CMBS  April 2014 31.9 172.0 140 95.9 n/a
VBG1 Talisman 3 January 2012 57.7 228.9 120 124.1 n/a2

VBG2 Talisman 4 April 2011 46.1 169.5 115 128.3 n/a3

Zeta Lloyds TSB May 2013 46.0 361.3 140 59.1 65%
Total    514.9    
 
Notes:  
1) ICR covenant waived following increased funding charges  
2) Previous LTV covenant of 85% waived for the extended maturity period  
3) Previous LTV covenant of 86% waived 
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Ten Largest Investments

1 Justizzentrum, Halle, Germany

Valuation: £33.3 million

Freehold courts and offices built in 1997 and  
totalling 34,689 sq m

Let to Land Sachsen-Anhalt until June 2020

• Current rent £2.8 million p.a. • German CPI indexation

2 Weiner Platz, Dresden, Germany

Valuation: £30.9 million

Freehold 2004 built office of 17,449 sq m

Let to VBG Verwaltungs-Berufsgenossenschaft until  
April 2024

• Current rent £2.4 million p.a. • German CPI indexation

3 Centenary Court, Bradford

Valuation: £28.9 million

Freehold 1990s built office of 9,743 sq m

Occupied by HMRC until April 2027 with a break in 2021

• Current rent £2.0 million p.a. • UK RPI indexation

4 Martin Luther Strasse, Stuttgart, Germany

Valuation: £25.4 million

Freehold 2005 built office of 12,455 sq m

Let to VBG Verwaltungs-Berufsgenossenschaft until  
January 2025

• Current rent £2.0 million p.a. • German CPI indexation

5 Castle House, Leeds

Valuation: £21.0 million

Leasehold 1980s built office of 7,281 sq m

Let to Secretary of State for the Environment until 2023

• Current rent £1.3 million p.a. • UK RPI indexation

6 Haagse Veste1, The Hague, The Netherlands

Valuation: £20.3 million

Freehold 2008 built office of 12,878 sq m

Occupied by the Royal Dutch Government for use by the 
International Criminal Court. Let for a term of six years from July 
2008 with a tenant’s option to extend for a further four years.

• Current rent £1.9 million p.a. • Dutch CPI indexation

7 Woodlands, Bedford

Valuation: £16.7 million

Freehold 1985 built office of 10,416 sq m

Majority occupied by Highways Agency until August 2020

• Current rent £1.4 million p.a. • Fixed uplift at rent review

8 Markgraffenstrasse, Berlin, Germany

Valuation: £15.6 million

Freehold 2005 built office of 2,025 sq m

Let to VBG Verwaltungs-Berufsgenossenschaft until  
December 2022

• Current rent £1.2 million p.a. • German CPI indexation

9 Crescent Centre, Bristol

Valuation: £14.7 million

Freehold 1970s built office of 8,180 sq m

Majority occupied by HMRC until 2023 with a break in 2021

• Current rent £1.2 million p.a.

10 Unicorn House, Bromley

Valuation: £14.2 million

Freehold 1980s built office of 5,365 sq m

Let to the Secretary of State for the Environment until 2010  
and then to Trillium PRIME until March 2022 with a break  
in 2018

• Current rent £1.2 million p.a. 
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1 Philippe de Nicolay (55)
Non-executive Director, Chairman and Member of 
Nominations Committee  
Philippe de Nicolay is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
Rothschild & Cie Gestion and a member of the Supervisory 
Board of Paris Orleans. He was a General Partner of 
Rothschild et Cie banque until 2010, a director of Rothschild 
Asset Management Limited (London) (1997-2000). He 
was a director of Insight Investment Management (Global) 
(1997-2000) and chief operating officer of Rothschild Asset 
Management International Holdings BV (1997-2000).

2 David Harrel (62)
Non-executive Director and Member of Nominations 
Committee
David Harrel qualified as a solicitor in 1975 and went on to 
become one of the founding partners of SJ Berwin LLP in 
1982 where he specialised in corporate-dispute resolution, 
employment and financial services related disputes. He was 
the senior partner of SJ Berwin from 1992 to 2006, retired 
as a partner in May 2007 and currently acts as a consultant 
to that firm. Outside of SJ Berwin LLP, he is a non-executive 
director of the English National Opera, a director of The 
Howletts Wild Animal Trust and the Clore Leadership 
Programme, is a Trustee of the Clore Duffield Foundation, 
a member of the board of Rathbone Brothers plc and a 
director of Kyte Broking Limited, Kyte Capital Management 
Limited and The Kyte Group Limited.

3 Ita McArdle (46)
Non-executive Director, Member of Audit Committee and 
Senior Independent Director
Ita McArdle qualified as a Manx Advocate in 1995 and 
became a partner of Simcocks Advocates in 1996. She 
practiced in corporate commercial law including financial 
services for both private and corporate clients before retiring 
on 30 April 2008 to set up her own consultancy. She sits 
on the boards of a number of public companies, collective 
investment schemes together with some private companies 
in conjunction with clients. She is a member of the Isle of 
Man Law Society, the Law Society of England and Wales 
and the International Bar Association. Ms McArdle resides 
in the IOM. Ms McArdle holds a Class 4 –corporate services 
– sub-class (6) and Class 5 – trust services – sub-classes (2) 
and (5) Financial Services Licence and is regulated by the 
Financial Supervision Commission of the Isle of Man.

4 Richard Melhuish (63)
Non-executive Director and Member of the Audit Committee 
and the Nominations Committee
Richard Melhuish qualified in 1973 as a Chartered 
Surveyor and has over 35 years’ experience in property 
investment and asset management. He was previously 
managing director and co-founder of Chancerygate Asset 
Management Limited. Since 2006 he has been a director 
of Chancerygate (IOM) Limited where he is responsible for 
strategy management, portfolio performance and acquiring 
and selling property. Prior to this he worked from 1978 
at Liverpool Victoria Friendly Society Limited where, as 
head of property from 1993, he was responsible for the 
property elements of both the Life Fund and Staff Pension 
Fund. These two funds directly owned property assets 
valued at approximately £500 million. From 1975 to 1978 
he worked as a senior valuer at Smiths Industries. He was 
ARICS (Associate, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors), 
qualified in 1973 and elected FRICS (Fellow, Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors) in 1989.

5 Mark Taylor (59)
Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee
Mark Taylor is a chartered accountant with over 30 
years’ financial and general management experience in 
the construction, property development and investment 
sectors. He was finance director and company secretary 
of Workspace Group plc for 12 years. Prior to this, in his 17 
years with John Laing he was both joint managing director 
of John Laing Developments Ltd and group investment 
director. Following this he joined the Ministry of Defence 
for a short period to assist in the privatisation of its married 
quarters’ estate. He qualified as an accountant in 1975, 
being admitted as a fellow of the ICAEW in 1980. 

6 Mark Sheardown (56)
Non-executive Director
Mark Sheardown is a Fellow of the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors and has over 30 years of 
entrepreneurial and successful real estate experience 
covering property development and investment into real 
estate occupied by government-backed entities, primarily 
the NHS funded primary health care sector. In 1982 he 
formed City & Urban Securities, which has completed in 
excess of 30 retail and commercial development schemes. 
He is currently a director of General Practice Group where 
he has overseen the growth of the company to its current 
position as a market leader in the sector having developed 
and purchased over £300 million worth of healthcare assets.
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Combined Code
The Board supports the principles of good governance as set out in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued  
by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2008 (“the Combined Code”). The Board considers that it has complied with all of 
the main provisions of the Combined Code, save as identified and explained below.

The Board
The Board currently comprises the Chairman and five Non-Executive Directors, all of whom are independent from the 
management team of the Company’s Investment Adviser. The Board is chaired by Philippe de Nicolay, who was appointed  
as Chairman on 8 November 2007. Philippe de Nicolay and Ita McArdle were originally appointed as Directors of the 
Company on 28 June 2004. David Harrel was appointed on 11 July 2007. Mark Taylor and Richard Melhuish were appointed 
on 8 November 2007 and Mark Sheardown was appointed on 11 February 2010. Hugh Ward resigned as a director of the 
company on 28 January 2010 and Wolf Cesman retired as a director of the company on 10 November 2010.

Redefine Investment Managers (UK) Limited, a UK based property fund management company, holds a 100% interest in the 
Company’s Investment Adviser, Wichford Property Management Limited (“WPML”).

The Board has appointed Ita McArdle to be the Senior Independent Director. As recommended by the Combined Code,  
Ita McArdle is available to Shareholders where contact with the Chairman regarding a Company matter is inappropriate.

The Board is responsible for setting the overall Group strategy and Investment Policy, monitoring Group performance and 
authorising all property acquisitions and disposals. To assist it in discharging these responsibilities, it receives regular 
financial and operational reports from WPML (“the Investment Adviser”). It also receives updates on regulatory issues and 
corporate governance rules and guidelines on a regular basis from Simcocks Trust Limited (“the Administrator”).

The Board meets at least four times per year and has adopted a schedule of matters reserved for its decision. The Board  
has established an Audit Committee and a Nominations Committee. The Board does not consider it necessary to establish  
a separate Remuneration Committee as it has no Executive Directors.  

The table below lists the number of Board and Committee meetings attended by each Director. During the year ended 30 
September 2010, there were in total five Board Meetings, three Nominations Committee Meetings and three Audit Committee 
Meetings as well as many meetings of Committees of the Board to deal with interim decisions between Board meetings.

       Nominations Audit 
      Board Committee Committee 
      Meetings Meetings Meetings 
Director      Attended Attended Attended

Philippe de Nicolay      5 3 n/a
Ita McArdle      5 n/a 2(i)

David Harrel      4 3 n/a
Richard Melhuish      4 3 2
Mark Sheardown      2(ii) n/a n/a
Mark Taylor      3 n/a 3
Wolf Cesman      2 n/a n/a
Hugh Ward      1 n/a 1(iii)

i) there have only been two meetings since Ita McArdle was appointed to the Audit Committee.
ii) there have been three meetings since Mark Sheardown was appointed to the Board.
iii) there was only one meeting before Hugh Ward resigned in January 2010.

The Chairman and other members of the Board recommend that the Directors retiring be re-elected at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting. All Directors are subject to an annual performance evaluation, which is an ongoing exercise.  
As part of this evaluation, the Chairman confirms that the retiring Directors continue to demonstrate commitment to their  
role and responsibly fulfil their functions.

Audit Committee
Mark Taylor chairs the Audit Committee (“the Committee”), which also comprises Ita McArdle and Richard Melhuish.  
The Board is satisfied that Mark Taylor has recent and relevant financial experience for the purposes of paragraph C.3.1  
of the Combined Code. 

The Committee met three times during the year. 

The principal duties of the Committee are to review the half-yearly and annual financial statements before their submission  
to the Board and to consider any matters raised by the Company’s Independent Auditor. The Committee also reviews the 
independence and objectivity of the Independent Auditor, accounting policies, internal controls, the contract with the 
Investment Adviser and the appointment and remuneration of the Auditor.
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The Committee plays an important role in the appraisal and supervision of key aspects of the Group’s business including 
financial reporting and internal controls. The Committee meets representatives of the Investment Adviser who report as to 
the proper conduct of business in accordance with the regulatory environment in which both the Group and the 
Investment Adviser operate. The Group’s external Independent Auditor also attends the Committee meetings at its 
request, at least twice a year, and reports on its work procedures, the quality of the Group’s accounting procedures and 
its findings in relation to the Group’s statutory accounts.

The current Independent Auditor was appointed in February 2010 following a review of the Company’s requirements and a 
competitive tending process overseen by the Audit Committee. During the year, the Committee reviewed the effectiveness 
and independence of the Group’s Independent Auditor and the outcome of the review was satisfactory. 

The Committee has in place a policy on non-audit services. Services that are of a compliance nature or that are closely 
related to the audit are pre-approved. All other services shall be considered on a case-by-case basis by the Committee.

Nominations Committee
Philippe de Nicolay, David Harrel and Richard Melhuish comprise the Nominations Committee. 

This committee considers nominations put forward and formulates a recommendation on each candidate. Where the 
committee make a positive recommendation the candidate will then be considered by the whole Board. 

Following the resignation of Hugh Ward on 28 January 2010 the committee considered a number of potential replacement 
candidates. The committee decided to recommend to the Board that Mr Sheardown be appointed to the Board. The 
Board accepted this recommendation.

The Nominations Committee knew of Wolf Cesman’s intensions to retire and has considered possible replacements for 
him but has not yet formulated a recommendation to the Board.

Remuneration
Details of Directors’ Remuneration can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 27.

Investment Adviser – Contract with WPML
The Company entered into a new contract with WPML effective from 1 October 2009.

Under this contract  the services previously provided to the Company by BCM pursuant to the Property Manager’s 
Agreement are now provided by WPML (such services to be subcontracted to BCM in respect of sales and acquisitions 
and to others for property management) and the Property Manager’s Agreement with BCM was terminated. In return for 
the provision of the services, the Company will pay to WPML an asset management fee of 0.5 per cent. (reduced from 0.6 
per cent. on the Group’s assets excluding cash and 0.3 per cent. on the Group’s cash) on the aggregate gross value of the 
Group’s assets (including cash) and a commission of 0.75 per cent. (reduced from 1 per cent. under the Property 
Manager’s Agreement) in respect of sales and acquisitions, or 1 per cent. (reduced from 1 per cent. plus agents costs and 
fees) where BCM acts in a joint agency capacity or incurs sub-agent costs and fees. WPML also receive a fee of 1 per cent 
of the rents on properties that it is directly responsible for managing; currently this is all the UK properties. Wichford shall 
also pay to WPML an incentive fee calculated on a 3 year rolling basis and payable in Wichford shares. The first 3 year 
period incentive fee shall be equal to 20 per cent. of the total shareholder returns in excess of 12 per cent. per annum and 
the incentive fee for all subsequent 3 year periods shall be equal to 20 per cent. of the total shareholder returns in excess 
of 10 per cent. per annum subject to a clawback in respect of periods already covered by this incentive fee. Payment of the 
incentive fee is subject to the total return on Wichford’s property portfolio placing it equal to or higher than the top 40 
percentile ranking when compared to the universe of property funds measured by IPD in its index for the total return on 
UK IPD All Office Index for the relevant period in question. The maximum award in any year shall be capped at 5 per cent. 
of Wichford’s shares in issue from time to time provided that the  aggregate award is limited to a maximum of 10 per cent. 
of the total shares of Wichford in issue over any 10 year period. Where the payment of part or all of the incentive fee would 
result in WPML, when taken together with any party that WPML is considered to be acting in concert with, holding more 
than 29.9 per cent. of the issued shares in Wichford, then that part of the incentive fee which would result in WPML and 
any concert party holding more than 29.9 per cent. of the issued shares in Wichford shall, unless otherwise agreed, be 
satisfied in cash. Either party will be able to terminate the new property adviser’s agreement upon one year’s notice in 
writing, such notice not to be served before the day after the expiration of the third anniversary of the new contract. 

The Directors believe that this new arrangement is of greater benefit to the Company by making the organisation more 
efficient and incentivising WPML to perform for the benefit of the Group.

In addition, the Directors believe that WPML is both resourced to act as Investment Adviser to the Group and equipped to 
identify appropriate investment opportunities.
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Shareholder Relations
The Group issues the half-yearly and annual financial statements to each of its shareholders. In addition, all regulatory 
announcements can be found on the “Regulatory News” page within the Investors section on the Company’s website, 
www.wichford.com.

The Investment Adviser has regular meetings with institutional shareholders. The Board supports the principle that the 
Annual General Meeting be used to communicate with private shareholders and encourages them to attend and 
participate.

Independent Professional Advice
There is an agreed procedure for the Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional advice 
at the Company’s expense, having first notified the Chairman.

Accountability and Audit
The Board’s responsibilities with regard to the financial statements are set out on page 31. The Independent Auditor’s 
Report is given on page 32.

Internal Control
The Board recognises its ultimate responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control. It has established procedures 
for identifying, evaluating and managing risks that the Group is exposed to and has identified risk management controls in 
the key areas of business objectives, accounting, compliance, operations and secretarial as areas for the extended 
review. These procedures have operated throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and 
audited financial statements. It has, however, to be understood that systems of internal control, however carefully 
designed, operated and supervised, can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

A description of the Group’s operations and the strategy which it employs to maximise returns whilst minimising risks can 
be found on page 14.

The Group does not have its own internal audit function but places reliance on compliance and other control functions of 
its service providers. The Board has considered this practice during the year and has reaffirmed its judgment that an 
internal audit function is not necessary.

Compliance with the Combined Code
Throughout the year ended 30 September 2010, the Company has complied with the Combined Code 2008, with the 
following exceptions:

A.3 – This provision is not fully complied with as it calls for a balance of executive and non-executive directors and the 
Company only has non-executive directors. However the Directors have a broad range of experience and are deemed to 
be independent from the management team of the Company’s Investment Adviser.

A.7.2 – This provision is complied with save that all of the Directors are appointed for a term which expires when either the 
Director is (i) not re-appointed following retirement in accordance with the Articles of Association; (ii) removed or vacates 
office; (iii) resigns or does not offer himself for re-election, or (iv) terminates his appointment on three months’ notice.

B.2.1 – This provision of having a Remuneration Committee is not complied with as there are no executive directors of the 
Company, The Board as a whole determines the Directors’ remuneration.

D.1.2 – This provision is not strictly complied with as the management team of WPML have regular contact with major 
institutional Shareholders. All comments received from such Shareholders are fed back to the Board both from WPML and 
the Company’s brokers. When practicable, all Directors attend the Annual General Meeting, with the Chairman and the 
Senior Independent Director in particular, being available to communicate with Shareholders.
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Wichford P.L.C. believes that a successful business should operate in an ethical and responsible way, whilst taking 
account of its stakeholders and society as a whole. 

As a listed property company, Wichford is committed to conducting its business activities in a responsible manner with 
due consideration to shareholders, contractors, suppliers, tenants, local communities and to the sustainability of the 
environment for the future.

Corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) is reviewed regularly by the Board. Opportunities and risks are evaluated, 
appropriate action discussed and a policy agreed by the Board.

Business Ethics
Policy: Without ethical conduct, regulations and codes of practice will not work. Such ethical behaviour is dependent on 
strong leadership, integrity, honesty and fairness and these are the values that the Board promotes and expects from 
contractors and suppliers alike.

Wichford does not allow its Directors to accept or offer bribes in order to give Wichford a business advantage. However 
infrequent gifts and entertainment, which are unlikely to alter the behaviour of the recipient, are permitted. 

Directors are encouraged to avoid situations where they may have a direct or indirect interest which conflicts with the 
interest of the company. Where such a situation arises, such interests must be disclosed.

Performance: During the year there were no occasions when poor business ethics were reported to have occurred.
 
Shareholders
Policy: Wichford is accountable to its Shareholders; by providing clear communication, by meeting regularly with major 
shareholders, by acting with integrity towards all current and prospective shareholders and by ensuring that all 
shareholders are treated fairly.

Performance: The Company issues the half-yearly and annual financial statements to each of its Shareholders. All 
regulatory announcements can be found on the “Regulatory News” page within the Investors section on the Company’s 
website - www.wichford.com.

Directors of the Company hold meetings with institutional shareholders and the Investment Adviser has regular meetings 
with institutional shareholders and these presentations are available on the website. The Board supports the principle that 
the Annual General Meeting be used to communicate with private shareholders and encourages them to attend and 
participate.
 
Tenants 
Policy: The Company aims to be a good landlord and to ensure that tenants are given adequate lines for reporting. All 
complaints or suggestions are given due consideration.

Performance: Wichford is continuously working to improve communication with its tenants. Tenants are encouraged to 
give feedback which is monitored, considered and if appropriate, acted upon.

Health and Safety
Policy: Wichford is committed to complying with all local Health and Safety legislation and regulations, maintaining a safe 
place of work for our tenants and our contractors.

Performance: Periodic visits are made to all properties with as little notice as practically possible given to the tenants to 
ensure that all Health and Safety requirements of the tenants are being adhered to. Where the Company has building 
contractors on site checks are made to ensure that these contractors are adhering to Health and Safety requirements. 

Environment and Sustainability
Policy: The Company is committed to sustainability and to protect the environment for future generations. Tenants and 
contractors should be encouraged to promote energy efficient systems and to recycle and use sustainable products 
where possible. 

Performance: Wichford promotes recycling and energy efficiency. Where Wichford contracts for works to its properties 
it requires its contractors to use sustainable products as much as the work allows and to recycle waste as appropriate. 
The Group has registered under the new Carbon Reduction Commitment programme but does not have any on-going 
commitments under this initiative as most of the Group’s tenants are contracted directly with energy providers.

Corporate Social Responsibility Statement
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Whistleblowing
Policy: Wichford is committed to a culture of openness in which legitimate concerns can be reported without fear of 
penalty or punishment. Incidents involving the following should be reported: a criminal offence, miscarriage of justice, 
failure to comply with a legal obligation, failure to comply with Wichford’s regulations, danger to health or safety, damage 
to the environment, financial malpractice, and actions likely to harm the reputation of the Company. 

Concealment of any of these reportable issues should also be reported. All allegations should be made in good faith and 
be reported anonymously via the whistle blowing procedure. Any misconduct or malpractice within the workplace is taken 
extremely seriously. Any knowingly false or malicious allegations will result in actions against the individual making them.  
The principles and procedure are in line with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA) and apply to all contractors of 
Wichford.

Performance: Contractors or tenants can raise concerns anonymously via the Wichford website.  Any reports are 
forwarded to the Senior Independent Director. During 2010 there were no material whistle blowing reports received.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

As the Board consists entirely of Non-Executive Directors, the Board as a whole act as a Remuneration Committee.  
The Board periodically review the level of Directors’ fees relative to other comparable companies and in light of the 
responsibility of each Director. 

After careful consideration, the Board decided to raise the level of Directors’ fees from 1 April 2010. This was the first 
increase in four years.

The table below shows the current annual fees payable and the actual fees paid to each of the Directors during the year:

        Annual 2010 Actual 
        Fees  Fees 
        Payable Paid 
Director Role        £ £

Philippe de Nicolay  Non-Executive Director and Chairman     50,000 42,500 
 Member of the Nominations Committee
Ita McArdle Non-Executive Director      30,000 22,500 
 Senior Independent Director 
 Member of the  Audit Committee
David Harrel Non-Executive Director      30,000 22,500 
 Member of the Nominations Committee
Richard Melhuish Non-Executive Director      30,000 22,500 
 Member of the  Audit Committee 
 Member of the Nominations Committee
Mark Sheardown Non-Executive Director      30,000 11,527
Mark Taylor Non-Executive Director      40,000 32,500 
 Chairman of Audit Committee
W E Cesman Non-Executive Director      30,000 22,500
        176,527

Mr Cesman was associated with Redefine International Property Fund Managers Ltd during the period and retired as a 
director of the Company on 10 November 2010.

Additional to the fees shown above Hugh Ward, who resigned as a director at the Annual General Meeting in January 2010, 
was paid £11,000 in fees during the year.

Each Director has entered into an engagement letter on their appointment with the Company which records the terms of 
their appointment as a Non-Executive Director. 

This Report was approved by the Board on 16 December 2010 and signed on its behalf by the Chairman.



Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010
28

Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2010.  

Results and Dividends
The Group profit for the year after taxation amounted to £17.0 million (2009: loss of £75.4 million). The Directors recommend 
the declaration of a final dividend of 0.33 pence per share and accordingly a resolution will be put to the Annual General 
Meeting on 27 January 2011 to declare a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 September 2010 payable on 1 March 
2011 to those Shareholders on the register at the close of business on 4 February 2011.  

Principal Activity
The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries is the generation of rental income and capital growth through 
investment in properties across the UK and Continental Europe, which are occupied principally by Central or State 
government bodies.

Review of the Business and Future Activities  
The Chairman’s Statement on page 3 and the Business and Financial Review on pages 4 to 18 contain a review of the 
business and an indication of future developments. These should be read in conjunction with this report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company
The principal risks to the Company and the ways in which it manages and controls these risks are described in the Business 
and Financial Review on pages 4 to 18.

Going Concern
After considering the relevant factors, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. They have, therefore, adopted the going concern basis in 
preparing these financial statements.

The principal issues the Directors considered in their enquiries concerned the maturity of the VBG2 facility in April 2011 
together with the strategic review outlined in the Chairman’s Statement.

With regard to the VBG2 facility the Directors are currently confident that this facility will not be required to be repaid at 
maturity following on-going but non-concluded negotiations with the loan servicer. The Directors note that this facility is 
ring-fenced with no recourse to the other assets pledged to other Group facilities. They also note that the VBG1 facility has 
already been successfully extended after negotiations with the same loan servicer although there can be no certainty that a 
similar, or any agreement, will be reached on the extension of the VBG2 facility.

Company’s Objectives, Policies and Strategies in Respect of Financial Instruments
The Group’s treasury operations are co-ordinated and managed in accordance with policies and procedures approved by 
the Board. They are designed to mitigate the financial risks faced by the Group, which primarily relate to funding and 
interest rate risk exposure.

The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash, bank borrowings, derivatives, and other items such as trade debtors and 
creditors that arise directly from its operations.   

Further details of financial instruments are given in note 16 to the financial statements. The Board reviews and agrees 
policies for managing financial risks, which are summarised in the Business and Financial Review.

Share Capital
As at 30 September 2009, the Company had 1,062,095,548 Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each in issue together with 
132,761,948 Deferred Shares of 9 pence each in issue.  

Following the Shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 January 2010 the Company applied to  
the High Court in the Isle of Man to cancel the Deferred Shares and transfer their nominal value to distributable reserves. 
The court approved this in April 2010 and the Company cancelled the deferred Shares and made the transfer at that time.
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Notified Shareholders
As at the date of this report, the following interests in the issued Ordinary Shares of the Company of 3 per cent and over had 
been notified to the Company:
        % of issued 
       No. of Ordinary 
       Ordinary shares Share Capital

Redefine International plc       230,772,000 21.73
Entities in association with the REAL Corporation Jersey and Southwood Holdings Ltd   139,505,000 13.13
Rathbone Brothers Plc       58,974,869 5.55
AXA S.A. and its group of companies       58,033,363 5.46
Schroder Plc       48,863,184 4.60
Legal and General Investment Management Ltd      43,215,804 4.06

Directors
Biographical details for all of the Company’s Directors can be found on page 21.

According to Article 95 of the Articles of Association of the Company at each Annual General Meeting one third of the 
Directors shall retire from office by rotation and directors must be re-elected after serving three years since last elected. 
The Directors to retire by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting are Mr Sheardown, Mr Harrel, Mr Melhuish 
and Mr Taylor. Mr Sheardown, Mr Harrel, Mr Melhuish and Mr Taylor will be offering themselves for re-election at the Annual 
General Meeting.

The interests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company (all of which are beneficial unless otherwise stated) as at 
30 September 2010 are set out below:
      Number of  
      Shares as at Number of Shares as at 
      30 September 30 September  
      2010 2009
      1 penny 1 penny 9 pence 
      Ordinary Ordinary Deferred 
Director      Share Share Share

Philippe de Nicolay      240,000 240,000 30,000
Ita McArdle      15,000 15,000 15,000
David Harrel      345,392 345,392 43,174
Richard Melhuish      80,000 80,000 10,000
Mark Sheardown      – – –
Mark Taylor      – – –

These interests remain unchanged as at the date of this report.

No Director has any interest in the Deferred Shares as all the Deferred Shares in issue were cancelled during the year 
following Shareholder and court approval.

Disclosure of Information to the Independent Auditor
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s Independent Auditor in 
connection with the preparation of its report is unaware. Each Director has taken all reasonable steps to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s Independent Auditor is aware of that 
information.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on 27 January 2011 at 11:00am at the registered office of the 
Company.

The Ordinary Business will comprise:

Resolution 1: To receive and adopt the Directors’ and the Auditors’ Reports and the Company’s audited financial statements 
for the year ended 30 September 2010.
This is to accept the Annual Report and audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2010. 

Resolution 2: To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 September 2010.
This is to accept the Remuneration Report contained in the Annual Report for the year ended 30 September 2010.
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Resolution 3: To re-elect Mr Sheardown as a Director

Resolution 4: To re-elect Mr Harrel as a Director

Resolution 5: To re-elect Mr Melhuish as a Director

Resolution 6: To re-elect Mr Taylor as a Director
Mr Sheardown was appointed during the year while Mr Harrel, Mr Melhuish and Mr Taylor are retiring due to the 
requirements of Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of Association which state that one third of the directors shall resign 
each year and directors have to be re-elected after serving three years since their last election; they may offer themselves 
for re-election. All four offer themselves for re-election as a Director.

Resolution 7: To approve a final dividend of 0.33 pence per Ordinary Share.
This is to approve the final dividend payable to all Shareholders of Ordinary Shares. 

The Special Business will comprise:

Resolution 8: To re-appoint the Independent Auditor and authorise the Directors to determine its remuneration.
This is to elect the Independent Auditor who signed the audited reports contained in the Annual Report and allow the 
Directors to set their fees. 

Resolution 9: To adopt a revised Investment Policy.
This is to give the Directors more flexibility in their investment decisions.

Resolution 10: That the Directors be hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to allot Ordinary Shares.
This resolution will give the Directors the general power to allot unissued Ordinary Shares in the Company in accordance 
with the Articles of Association.

Resolution 11: That the Directors can allot Ordinary Shares as if the pre-emption provisions in Article 10 of the Articles of 
Association did not apply up to the limits contained in the accompanying Notice of the Annual General Meeting.
This resolution will allow the Directors to issue shares without first offering them to the existing shareholders within the 
limits set in the resolution as detailed in the notice to the meeting.

Resolution 12: That the Directors be authorised to make market purchases of the Ordinary Shares in the Company.
This resolution will allow the Directors to purchase shares in the Company.

The Notice of the Annual General Meeting and the resolutions to be put to the meeting are included in this Annual Report 
and financial statements on pages 76 to 80.

Creditor Payment Policy
It is Group policy to settle suppliers’ accounts in accordance with their individual terms of business. As at 30 September 
2010, the Company had £0.6 million of trade creditors, representing 5 creditor days (2009: £2.6 million of trade creditors 
representing 6 creditor days).

The Board of Directors
16 December 2010



Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010

31

G
overnance

Statement of Directors Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended) requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent Company 
financial statements for each financial year. Under the Listing Rules issued by the London Stock Exchange, the Directors 
are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and as applied in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies 
Acts 1931-2004 (as amended).

The Group and parent Company financial statements are required by law, IFRS as adopted by the EU and United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice to present fairly the financial position and performance of the Group and 
Company respectively. The Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended) provide in relation to such financial 
statements that references in the relevant part of the law to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references 
to their achieving a fair presentation.

In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
•  state that the financial statements comply in the case of the Group with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and in the case of 

the parent Company with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice as applied in accordance with the 
Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended); and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the 
parent Company will continue in business.

Under applicable law and the requirements of the Listing Rules issued by the London Stock Exchange, the Directors are 
also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report and reports relating to Directors’ remuneration and corporate 
governance that comply with that law and those Rules. In particular, in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency 
Rules (“the DTR”), the Directors are required to include in their report a fair review of the business and a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and the Company and a responsibility statement relating to these and 
other matters, included below.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and parent Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended) and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of 
the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Responsibility statement, in accordance with the transparency regulations
Each of the Directors confirms that to the best of each person’s knowledge and belief;
•  the Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group at 30 September 2010 and its profits of the year then ended; 
•  the parent Company financial statements, prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice and as applied in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended), give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the parent Company at 30 September 2010; and

•  the Report of the Directors contained in the Annual Report together with the Business Review on pages 4 to 18 includes 
a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and parent Company, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The Board of Directors
16 December 2010
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Independent  Auditors’ Report to the Members of Wichford P.L.C.

We have audited the Group financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Wichford P.L.C. for the year ended  
30 September 2010 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the 
related notes. These financials statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with the Section 15 of the Companies Act 
1982. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an Auditor’s Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, are set out in the Statement of 
Director’s Responsibilities on page 31.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU and are properly prepared in accordance with Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended) 
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We also report to you, if in our opinion the Group has not kept proper accounting records or if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for the audit. 

We also report to you if, in our opinion, any information specified by law or the Listing Rules of the London Stock 
Exchange regarding Directors’ remuneration and Directors’ transactions is not disclosed and, where practicable, include 
such information in our report.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of 
the Combined Code 2008 as issued by the Financial Reporting Council specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the 
London Stock Exchange, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on 
internal controls cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance 
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman’s Statement, Business Review, Financial Review and Report 
of the Directors. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.

It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the 
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the 
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
•  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of 

the Group’s affairs as at 30 September 2010 and of its profits for the year then ended;
•  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 

1931-2004 (as amended), and Article 4 of IAS Regulation; and
•  the information given in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the Group financial statements.

KPMG
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
Dublin, Ireland
16 December 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 September 2010

 Year ended 30 September 2010 Year Ended 30 September 2009
   Trading Other  Trading Other  
   Operations* Items** Total Operations* Items** Total 
  Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue  4 44.3 – 44.3 44.8 – 44.8
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation  
of investment properties  11 – 10.1 10.1 – (80.7) (80.7)
(Loss) on disposal of investment properties   – (0.9) (0.9) – (0.5) (0.5)
Administrative expenses  5 (6.9) (0.9) (7.8) (6.7) (1.6) (8.3)

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)   37.4 8.3 45.7 38.1 (82.8) (44.7)
Finance income  7 0.3 – 0.3 0.3 – 0.3
Finance costs  7 (27.9) (1.3) (29.2) (28.9) (0.2) (29.1)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX   9.8 7.0 16.8 9.5 (83.0) (73.5)
Income tax expense  8 (0.2) 0.4 0.2 (0.4) (1.5) (1.9)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE  
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY   9.6 7.4 17.0 9.1 (84.5) (75.4)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       
Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges   – 1.5 1.5 – (34.3) (34.3)
(Loss) on foreign currency translation   – (0.6) (0.6) – (4.7) (4.7)

Other comprehensive income for the year   – 0.9 0.9 – (39.0) (39.0)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE  
YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 9.6 8.3 17.9 9.1 (123.5) (114.4)
       
EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS      
Basic – pence (2009 restated)  9 0.90 0.70 1.60 0.86 (7.96) (7.10)
Diluted – pence (2009 restated)  9 0.89 0.69 1.58 0.86 (7.96) (7.10)

All activities are continuing.

* Trading Operations: This excludes the Other Items and reflects the trading activities of the Group.
** Other Items:  Includes the profits and losses on the sales of investment properties and items of a non-trading nature such as valuation adjustments 

arising from the fair value of investment properties and derivative financial instruments.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2010

       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009 
      Notes £m £m

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   
Investment properties      11 564.0 516.1
Trade and other receivables      12 11.9 11.8

       575.9 527.9

CURRENT ASSETS   
Trade and other receivables      12 9.6 7.2
Cash at bank      13 41.7 100.0

       51.3 107.2

TOTAL ASSETS       627.2 635.1

CURRENT LIABILITIES   
Trade and other payables       14 (15.8) (24.7)
Borrowings      15 (47.0) (63.6)
Derivative financial liabilities      16 (16.4) (17.9)

       (79.2) (106.2)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   
Trade and other payables      14 (2.0) (1.9)
Borrowings      15 (470.2) (463.5)
Derivative financial liabilities      16 (15.7) (14.6)
Deferred tax liabilities      8 (1.1) (1.5)

       (489.0) (481.5)

TOTAL LIABILITIES       (568.2) (587.7)

NET ASSETS       59.0 47.4

EQUITY   
Share capital      18/19 10.6 22.6
Share premium      2 161.4 161.4
Retained earnings      2 (80.6) (107.0)
Cash flow hedges reserve      2 (32.9) (34.7)
Currency translation reserve      2 0.5 5.1
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ORDINARY  
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY      59.0 47.4
 
NET ASSET VALUE
Basic – pence per share      10 5.56 4.49
Diluted – pence per share      10 5.50 4.49

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16 December 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Ita McArdle Richard Melhuish    
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity  
for the year ended 30 September 2010

      Cash flow Currency 
   Share Share Retained hedges  translation  
   capital premium earnings reserve reserve Total 
Year ended 30 September 2010   £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 October   22.6 161.4 (107.0) (34.7) 5.1 47.4
Transactions with owners of the Company  
recognised in equity      
– Shares issued   – – – – – –
– Share issue costs   – – – – – –
– Transfer to distributable reserves   (12.0) – 12.0 – – –
– Dividends paid   – – (6.7) – – (6.7)
– Share based payment transaction   – – 0.4 – – 0.4
Total transactions with owners of the  
Company recognised in equity   (12.0) – 5.7 – – (6.3)
Total comprehensive income      
– Profit for the year   – – 17.0 – – 17.0
Other comprehensive income      
– Gain on cash flow hedges   – – – 1.5 – 1.5
– (Loss) on foreign currency translation   – – 3.7 0.3 (4.6) (0.6)

Total comprehensive income for the year   – – 20.7 1.8 (4.6) 17.9

At 30 September   10.6 161.4 (80.6) (32.9) 0.5 59.0

      Cash flow Currency 
   Share Share Retained hedges  translation  
   capital premium earnings reserve reserve Total 
Year ended 30 September 2009   £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 October   13.3 168.7 (65.2) (0.6) 1.8 118.0
Transactions with owners of the Company  
recognised in equity      
– Shares issued   9.3 46.5 – – – 55.8
– Share issue costs   – (3.8) – – – (3.8)
– Transfer to distributable reserves   – (50.0) 50.0 – – –
– Dividends paid   – – (8.2) – – (8.2)
– Share based payment transaction   – – – – – –
Total transactions with the owners of the  
Company recognised in equity   9.3 (7.3) 41.8 – – 43.8
Total comprehensive income      
– (Loss) for the year   – – (75.4) – – (75.4)
Other comprehensive income      
– (Loss) on cash flow hedges   – – – (34.3) – (34.3)
– (Loss) on foreign currency translation   – – (8.2) 0.2 3.3 (4.7)

Total comprehensive income for the year   – – (83.6) (34.1) 3.3 (114.4)

At 30 September   22.6 161.4 (107.0) (34.7) 5.1 47.4

The cumulative foreign exchange difference included in the Retained earnings reserve is a loss of £6.8 million  
(September 2009: a loss of £10.5 million). In the cash flow hedges reserve the cumulative foreign exchange difference  
is a loss of £0.2 million (September 2009: a loss of £0.5 million).

The amount of the Currency translation reserve taken to the profit or loss was £0.8 million (September 2009: nil). 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2010

       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009 
       £m £m

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR       17.0 (75.4)
Adjust non-cash items:   
– (Increase)/decrease in fair value of investment properties     (10.1) 80.7
– Loss on sale of investment properties       0.9 0.5
– Share-based payment transaction       0.4 –
– Accrued rental income       (0.2) (0.4)
– Rent incentives       0.9 1.1
– Finance income       (0.3) (0.3)
– Finance costs       29.2 29.1
– Income tax expense       (0.2) 1.9
– Foreign exchange loss/(gain)       1.7 (7.2)
Working capital adjustments:   
– (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables      (0.3) 10.9
– (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables      (8.8) 2.2

– Finance costs paid       (27.3) (29.1)
– Finance income received       0.3 0.3
– Finance lease paid       (0.2) (0.1)
– Taxation paid       (0.8) (0.1)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES      2.2 14.1
INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Purchase of investment properties       (58.2) (1.8)
Sale of investment properties       8.2 15.3

CASH FLOW (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      (50.0) 13.5
FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Ordinary Shares issued (net of expenses)       – 52.0
(Decrease)/increase in bank debt       (3.8) 13.5
Equity dividends paid       (6.7) (8.2)

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     (10.5) 57.3

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS       (58.3) 84.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      100.0 15.1

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR END      41.7 100.0
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Basis of Preparation 
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the EU.

Due to the Company being in an offer period as announced on 15 November 2010 the Company is required to make 
additional disclosures under Rule 29 of the Takeover Code. These disclosures primarily relate to investment properties 
and taxation and have been included in notes 11 and 8 respectively.

Basis of Measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment property, derivative financial 
instruments and share based payment transactions that are measured at fair value.  

Functional Currency
The Group’s presentation currency is pounds Sterling which represents the functional currency of the Company and a 
number of key subsidiaries. All financial information is presented in millions of pounds sterling (£m), rounded to the nearest 
million unless otherwise indicated. 

Going Concern
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors consider this the most 
appropriate basis. After considering the relevant factors, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 

The principal issues the Directors considered in their enquiries concerned the future maturity of the VBG2 facility in April 
2011 together and the strategic review announced in November 2010. The strategic review will include as assessment of 
strategic options, including the addressing the longer term financing position of the Company. 

The Directors are confident that the VBG2 facility will not be required to be repaid at maturity following on-going but 
non-concluded negotiations with the loan servicer. The Directors note that this facility is ring-fenced with no recourse to 
the other assets pledged to other Group facilities. They also note that the VBG1 facility has already been successfully 
extended after negotiations with the same loan servicer, although there can be no certainty that a similar or any 
agreement is reached on the extension of the VBG2 facility. 

Changes in Accounting Policies
Except as described below, the accounting policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented.

i)  Presentation of financial statements
The Group applies revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (2007), which became effective for the years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. As a result the Group presents a new primary statement called the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity for all owner changes in equity whereas all non-owner changes in equity are presented in 
the new consolidated statement of comprehensive income. This presentation has been applied in the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended 30 September 2010.

Comparative information has been re-presented so that it is in conformity with the revised standard. Since the change in 
accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.

ii)  Determination and presentation of operating segments
As at 1 October 2009 the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information provided 
internally to the Board of Directors. This change in accounting policy is due to the adoption of IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 
Previously operating segments were determined and presented in accordance with IAS 14 Segment Reporting. The new 
accounting policy in respect of segment operating disclosures is presented as follows:

Comparative segment information has been re-presented in conformity with the transitional requirements of IFRS 8. Since 
the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation and disclosure aspects, there is no impact on earnings per 
share.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to the transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(defined to be the Board of Directors) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

1. Basis of Preparation continued
iii)  Improving disclosures about financial instruments
On 5 March 2009, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 7 Improving Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amended IFRS 7 requires that for financial instruments measured at fair value on 
the consolidated statement of financial position, fair value measurements are disclosed by the source of inputs, using a 
three level hierarchy. For detail on this requirement see note 17 “Financial risk management objectives and policies”.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below.

Basis of Consolidation
The financial statements comprise the historical financial information of Wichford P.L.C. and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) 
for the year ended 30 September 2010. Wichford P.L.C. is a public listed company in the London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) 
and incorporated in the Isle of Man. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred from the Group. Control comprises the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is 
achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights; currently exercisable or convertible potential voting rights; 
or by way of contractual agreement.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies. Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising 
from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Revenue
Revenue recognised through profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents property 
rental income and interest income, net of VAT and other sales-related taxes, as follows:

Rental Income Receivable Under Operating Leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except 
for any contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises.

Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the non-cancellable period of the lease, even 
if the payments are not made on such a basis.

Premiums received to terminate leases are recognised through profit or loss when they arise.

The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant has the option to 
continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Directors are reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.

Service Charges
Where the Group invoices service charges, these amounts are not recognised as income as the risks in relation to the 
provision of these goods and services are primarily borne by the Group’s customers. Any servicing expenses suffered by 
the Group are included within administrative expenses.

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate basis.

Insurance Premiums
Insurance premiums recharged to tenants are not reflected in either income or expense.

Property Acquisitions
Where properties are acquired through the acquisition of corporate interests the Directors have regard to the substance of the 
assets and activities of the acquired entity in determining whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business.

Where such acquisitions are not judged to be an acquisition of a business the transactions are accounted for as if the Group 
had acquired the underlying property directly. Accordingly, no goodwill arises, rather the cost of the corporate entity is 
allocated between the identifiable assets and liabilities of the entity based on their relative fair values at the acquisition date.

Otherwise corporate acquisitions are accounted for as business combinations.

Business Combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations, if any, are accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase method of accounting as there were no 
business combinations after the issuance of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations (2008)”. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies continued
The cost of acquisition is the consideration given in exchange for the identifiable net assets. This consideration includes 
any cash paid plus the fair value at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity 
instruments issued by the Group. The cost of acquisition also includes directly attributable costs.

The acquired net assets are initially recognised at fair value. Where the Group does not acquire 100 per cent ownership of 
the acquired company, a minority interest is recorded as the minority’s proportion of the fair value of the acquired net 
assets. Any adjustment to the fair values is recognised within twelve months of the acquisition date.

Goodwill on acquisitions comprises the excess of the fair value of the consideration plus any associated costs for investments 
in subsidiaries over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill and fair value adjustments are recorded as 
assets and liabilities of the acquired company for the purposes of consolidation and are recorded in the local currency of that 
company. The costs of integrating and reorganising acquired businesses are charged to the post-acquisition profit or loss.

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The Group’s goodwill is reviewed at each reporting date, or more frequently if there is an indication that the goodwill is 
impaired, to determine whether events or changes in circumstances exist that indicate that their carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Investment Property
Property held to earn rent or for capital appreciation, or both, is classified as investment property and recognised initially 
at cost, including directly attributable transaction costs.

Property held under leases for the same purpose is also classified as investment property, accounted for as held under a 
finance lease and initially recognised at the sum of any premium paid on acquisition and the present value of any further 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the superior leaseholder is included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Thereafter investment property is measured at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. For the 
purposes of the historical financial information, the assessed fair value is:

•  reduced by the carrying amount of any accrued income and expense resulting from the spreading of lease incentives 
and/or minimum lease payments; and

•  increased by the carrying amount of any liability to the superior leaseholder included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The annual valuations of investment property are based upon estimates and subjective judgements that may vary from the 
actual values and sales prices that may be realised by the Group upon ultimate disposal. The critical assumptions made 
relating to valuations have been disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the profit or loss in the year in which 
they arise. Profits or losses on the disposal of investment property are recognised at contract completion for the disposal.

Disposals of investment properties are recognised on completion and the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the 
difference between the sale proceeds and the latest carrying value of the property after adding attributable costs of the 
disposal.

Non-current Assets Held for Sale
Investment property is transferred to non-current assets held for sale when it is expected that the carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through sale rather than from continuing use. On re-classification, investment property continues to 
be measured at fair value.

Finance Leases
Finance leases, which are the ground rents payable to the superior landlord on leasehold properties, are capitalised at the 
inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and the reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged through profit or 
loss as they arise.

Cash and Short-term Deposits
Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank, short-term deposits 
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

2. Significant Accounting Policies continued
For the purpose of presenting the “Consolidated cash flow statement”, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits as defined above.

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at their fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.  
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to original terms of the receivables concerned. Where such a provision for 
impairment has been made then the fair value on initial recognition less the provision is the amortised cost. 

Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Loans and Borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or 
premium on settlement.

Borrowing costs are recognised through profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and recognition of new liability at fair value, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised through profit or loss.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group holds derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk exposure. 
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics 
and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same 
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured 
at fair value through the profit or loss.

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between 
the hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge 
transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the cash flows 
of the respective hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a 
range of 80 -125 percent. For the cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to 
occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as 
described below.

Cash Flow Hedges
When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect 
profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative 
is recognised immediately through profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expired or sold, terminated or exercised,  
or designation is revoked, then the hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer 
to occur, then the balance in the hedging reserve is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss.

Other Derivatives
When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting,  
all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately through profit or loss.  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies continued
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The fair value of actively traded instruments is determined by reference to bid prices at the close of business on the 
reporting date. Where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. These include using 
recent arms-length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially 
the same and, discounted cash flow analysis and pricing models.

Share-based Payments
The grant-date fair value of equity share-based payment awards granted to the Investment Adviser is recognised as an 
expense, with the corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the Investment Adviser become entitled to the 
awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related non 
market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on 
the number of awards that meet the related non market condition performance conditions at the vesting date.

Current Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred Taxation
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the reporting period end date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes with the 
following exceptions:

•  where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future; and

•  deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted, or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.

In determining the expected manner of realisation of an asset, the Directors consider that the Group will recover part of its 
value through use, as determined by the present value of the future rental stream to be received over the expected holding 
period, and the balance through sale, determined as the difference between the carrying amount and the amount to be 
recovered through sale.

Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are recognised through profit and loss 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated from their foreign functional currency into pounds Sterling at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Income and expenses of foreign operations are translated at the 
weighted average exchange rates for the accounting period. The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a 
separate component of equity and recognised through profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation. 

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign 
operation shall be recognised in profit or loss in the separate financial statements of the reporting entity or the individual 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

2. Significant Accounting Policies continued
financial statements as appropriate. In the financial statements that include the foreign operations and the reporting entity 
(the Group accounts), such exchange differences shall be recognised initially in a separate component of equity and 
recognised through profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

Equity
Equity comprises the following:

•  “Share Capital” represents the nominal value of equity shares.
•  “Share Premium” represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received for equity shares, 

net of expenses of share issues.
•  “Retained earnings” represents retained profits and shareholder and court approved transfers from share capital and 

share premium.
•  “Cash flow hedges reserve” represents the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow 

hedging instrument related to hedged transactions that have not yet affected the profit or loss.
•  “Currency translation reserve” represents all exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations as well as from the translation from the Company’s net investment in foreign 
operations. This is disclosed by a way of narrative in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. 
All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is 
available.

New Standards and Interpretations not applied
The Directors have considered all IFRSs and interpretations that have been issued, but which are not yet effective and 
confirm that they do not believe that they will have a significant impact on how the results of operations and financial 
position of the Group are prepared and presented.

Critical Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements and estimates that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the year reported. Although these estimates are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of the amount, event or 
actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.

The principal areas where such judgements and estimates have been made are:

Investment Property Valuation
The Group uses the valuation performed by its independent valuers as a fair value of its investment properties The 
valuation is based upon assumptions including estimated rental values, future rental income, anticipated maintenance 
costs, future development costs and appropriate discount rates. The valuers also make reference to market evidence of 
transaction prices for similar properties.

Taxation
The Group is exposed to the risk of changes to tax legislation in the various countries in which the Group operates. It is 
also exposed to different interpretations of tax regulations between the tax authorities and the Group. 

Deferred Taxation
The Group considers that the value of the property portfolio is likely to be realised by both the sale and the use over time. 
The Group bases its deferred taxation provision on the assumption that the residual value of the investment properties is 
not less than the present value as provided by its external valuers.

The Group makes an initial estimate of the length of time that each property will be held in order to determine the initial 
recognised exemption for both the in use and on sale elements for each property. Periodically the Group will review the 
length of time for which each property will continue to be held and this can be significantly different from the residual of 
the time from the initial estimate.

The resulting provision, being subject to assumptions on the length of the time that each property will be held by the 
Group which can change over time, can lead to significantly different results for each property from one period to another.

The recoverability of any deferred tax asset is assessed and, where it is thought unlikely that a recovery will be made,  
is not included in the Group’s provision.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies continued
Derivative Financial Instruments
The fair value of derivatives actively traded instruments is determined by reference to bid prices at the close of business on 
the reporting date. Where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. These include using 
recent arms-length market transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially 
the same and discounted cash flow analysis and pricing models.

Additionally, the Group tests the effectiveness of these instruments half-yearly and the estimated ineffective portion is 
recorded through profit or loss rather than taken to equity. 

3. Operating segments
The business activity of the Group is property investment in the UK and Continental Europe which the Board considers to be 
the only business segment as presented previously in the Annual Report. However, the Board manages the Group by looking 
at the Continental European operations separate from the rest of the Group and so there are two reportable segments.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

• UK – Includes all UK properties together with all associated legal entities.
• Continental Europe – Includes all non-UK properties together with all associated legal entities.
      Total 
     Continental Reportable 
    UK Europe segments Other Group Total 
Year ended 30 September 2010    £m £m £m £m £m

External revenue    32.6 11.6 44.2 0.1 44.3
Inter-segment revenue    – – – – –

Reportable segment profit/(loss) before income tax   4.3 (4.9) (0.6) 17.4 16.8
Reportable segment assets    441.1 166.7 607.8 19.4 627.2
Acquisition of investment properties    58.2 – 58.2 – 58.2
(Loss) on disposals of investment properties   (0.8) (0.1) (0.9) – (0.9)

      Total 
     Continental Reportable 
    UK Europe segments Other Group Total 
Year ended 30 September 2009    £m £m £m £m £m

External revenue    32.4 12.4 44.8 – 44.8
Inter-segment revenue    – – – – –
Reportable segment profit/(loss) before income tax   (56.8) (37.5) (94.3) 20.8 (73.5)
Reportable segment assets    417.9 201.3 619.2 15.9 635.1
Acquisition of investment properties    – 1.8 1.8 – 1.8
(Loss) on disposals of investment properties   (0.5) – (0.5) – (0.5)

       Year ended Year ended  
       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009 
Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss       £m £m

Total (loss) for reportable segments       (0.6) (94.3)
Other profit/(loss)       – –
       (0.6) (94.3)
Elimination of inter-segment profits       – –
Unallocated amounts       17.4 20.8
Consolidated profit/(loss) before income tax       16.8 (73.5)

Reportable segment assets and profit/(loss) for operating segments are presented based on internal funding allocations. 
The differences to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of financial 
position are due to corporate activities.

In both reportable segments the principal customers are Central and State Government departments.

4.  Revenue
       Year ended Year ended  
       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009 
       £m £m

Rental income       44.3 44.8
Finance income (note 7)       0.3 0.3
       44.6 45.1
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5. Administrative Expenses
The following items have been charged in arriving at operating profit:

       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Property Adviser’s fees  
– for advisory services       3.1 3.5
– for accrued performance fees       0.4 –
Property Manager’s fees       0.3 0.2
Independent Auditor’s remuneration  
– for audit       0.1 0.2
– for review of tax provision       – 0.1
– for tax compliance work       – –
– for other tax advisory services       0.1 –
Legal fees       0.7 1.3

In addition to the fees shown above as the Independent Auditors’ remuneration, the Independent Auditors also charged 
£0.2 million in 2009 for the rights issuance advisory services. The total fees payable to the auditor in the year were  
£0.2 million (2009: £0.5 million). During the current financial year the Independent Auditors have changed from Grant 
Thornton to KPMG.

The performance fee is payable by Wichford P.L.C. to Wichford Property Management Limited (“WPML”) and will be 
satisfied by the issuance of new shares at the prevailing market price at the time of payment, under which WPML will 
acquire Ordinary Shares in Wichford P.L.C. at no cost.

The amount of any award is calculated as 20 per cent of the amount by which the total return on the Ordinary Shares  
in Wichford P.L.C. exceeds 12 per cent for the first award under the contract and 10 per cent for subsequent awards.  
A separate calculation of the amount of the annual award is made in relation to each separate tranche of Ordinary Shares  
in Wichford P.L.C. issued during the relevant three-year period. 

The award of shares will only vest if the Company’s return on property over each three-year period from the beginning  
of the relevant financial year to the end of the period two years later, is in the top 40 percentile of the IPD All Office Index.  
The Company has engaged IPD to make this comparison. The number of shares to be issued is only known at the end of 
each three year period as the cash equivalent earned under this scheme is divided by the average share price for the last  
20 business days of the three year period.

The grant-date fair value of the award granted to the Investment Adviser was measured based on multiple scenarios. 
Expected volatility and dividends are estimated by considering historic average data.

Included in administrative expenses for the year ended 30 September 2010 are non-recoverable costs of service charges 
and maintenance on the Continental European properties amounting to £0.3 million. These are of a non-recurring nature 
and regarded as “one-off” expenses.

Included in the administrative expenses for the year ended 30 September 2009 are the costs of advice on the Windermere 
interest rate swaps and other matters of £0.6 million and the cost of restructuring investments in Germany of £1.0 million. 
These items are included in the Other Items column in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

A summary of the items included in Other Items for Administrative Expenses is shown below.
       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

TRADING OPERATIONS  
Administrative expenses        6.9 6.7
OTHER ITEMS  
Windermere swaps and associated advice       – 0.6
Restructuring costs of German investments       – 1.0
Legal expenses of substitutions       0.6 –
Service charges       0.3 –
Total Administrative Expenses in Other Items      0.9 1.6
Total Administrative Expenses       7.8 8.3
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6. Directors’ Emoluments
There were no employees other than the Directors of the parent company. Directors’ emoluments paid in the year were 
£189,424 (2009: £178,046) and relate to fees and expenses; there being no other benefits or payments.

7. Finance Income and Costs
       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

FINANCE INCOME  
Interest receivable       0.3 0.3
Total Finance Income       0.3 0.3
 
FINANCE COSTS  
Interest expense       27.6 28.8
Finance lease interest       0.2 0.2
Discontinuation and ineffectiveness on Cash Flow Hedges     1.3 0.2
Fair value movement on trading derivatives       0.1 (0.1)
Total Finance Costs       29.2 29.1

8. Income Tax Expense
a) Tax on Profit from Ordinary Activities
       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Profit/(loss) before tax       16.8 (73.5)
CURRENT INCOME TAX  
Adjustments in respect of prior years       (0.1) 0.8
Income tax in respect of current year       0.3 0.3
Total current income tax       0.2 1.1
DEFERRED TAX  
Movement in deferred tax liability       (0.4) 0.8
Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income   (0.2) 1.9

During the year the Company reached agreement with HMRC over the previous tax periods and made payment of all 
resultant tax, no penalties, except for interest on late payment, was charged to the Group.

b) Deferred Tax
Deferred tax included through profit or loss is as follows:  
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Deferred tax liability  
Temporary differences on investment property      1.1 1.5
Deferred tax liability       1.1 1.5

Deferred tax included through profit or loss is as follows:
       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Temporary differences on investment properties      (0.4) 0.8
Deferred income tax (credit)/expense       (0.4) 0.8

The deferred tax provision reflects the likely tax charge in future periods based on the current expectation of how long each 
property will be owned. The calculation of this provision is based on separate calculations for recovering the initial 
investment through its use and on sale.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the uncertainty of it being realised.

c) Factors Affecting the Tax Charge in the Year
As the Group’s properties are principally in the UK and owned by companies registered in the Isle of Man the Company 
regards the UK’s income tax rate of 20% (2009: 20%), as payable under the UK’s Non Resident Landlord Scheme, to be 
most relevant tax rate for the reconciliation of the theoretical tax charge on accounting profits to the tax charge for the year 
shown through the profit or loss.
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8. Income Tax Expense continued
This reconciliation is shown below.
       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Profit/(loss) before tax       16.8 (73.5)
  
Profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by standard rate of UK income tax (20%)    3.4 (14.7)
  
Effect of:  
– income not subject to UK income tax       (3.2) (6.7)
– exempt property revaluation of investment properties      (2.0) 16.2
– losses carried forward       0.6 3.9
– deferred tax provision       (0.4) 0.8
– adjustment in respect of prior years       (0.1) 0.8
– expenses not deductible for tax       1.5 1.6
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year       (0.2) 1.9

d) Potential Tax Liability on the Disposal of Assets
In accordance with Rule 29.3 of the Takeover Code, Shareholders should note that the valuation reports from Savills 
Commercial Limited and DTZ have not taken into account any liability for tax which may arise on a disposal, whether actual 
or notional, of the Company’s assets. If the properties which are the subject of the valuation reports were to be sold at the 
amounts of these valuation reports the Board estimates that the potential tax liability that would arise would be 
approximately £0.2 million.

9. Earnings Per Share 
Basic earnings per share for the year ended 30 September 2010 is based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of 
£17.0 million (2009: loss of £75.4 million) and a weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year 
ended 30 September 2010 of 1,062,095,584 (2009: 1,062,095,584). 

The potential number of shares that may be issued under the performance fee arrangements with the Investment Adviser 
was 12,214,183 at 30 September 2010 as the estimated value of the incentive scheme was £1.1 million for the first three-year 
period.

The table below shows the figures on a comparable basis and shows the figures for 30 September 2009 on the same basis 
as that used for the figures for 30 September 2010. Therefore the weighted number of shares for all periods is the same.

       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Profit from Trading Operations       9.6 9.1
Profit/(Loss) from Other Items       7.4 (84.5)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders      17.0 (75.4)
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (000s)      1,062,096 1,062,096
Effect of share-based payment transactions (000’s)      12,214 –
Diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (000’s)     1,074,310 1,062,096
EARNINGS PER SHARE – PENCE  
Profit from Trading Operations per share       0.90 0.86
Profit/(loss) from Other Items per share       0.70 (7.96)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share       1.60 (7.10)
  
Profit from Trading Operations per share       0.89 0.86
Profit/(loss) from Other Items per share       0.69 (7.96)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share       1.58 (7.10)



C
onsolid

ated financials

Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010

47

9. Earnings Per Share continued
The table below shows the figures reported at 30 September 2009 as the comparative to the current year figures (see note 19).

       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Profit from Trading Operations       9.6 9.1
Profit/(loss) from Other Items       7.4 (84.5)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders      17.0 (75.4)
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (000s)      1,062,096 147,792
Effect of share-based payment transactions (000’s)      12,214 –
Diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (000’s)     1,074,310 147,792
EARNINGS PER SHARE – PENCE  
Profit from Trading Operations per share       0.90 6.15
Profit/(loss) from Other Items per share       0.70 (57.14)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share       1.60 (50.99)
  
Profit from Trading Operations per share       0.89 6.15
Profit/(loss) from Other Items per share       0.69 (57.14)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share       1.58 (50.99)

For EPRA basis total earnings per share figure refer to note 23.

10. Net Assets Per Share
Net assets per share is calculated by dividing the net assets at 30 September 2010 attributable to the equity holders of the 
parent of £59.0 million (2009: £47.4 million) by the number of Ordinary Shares as at 30 September 2010 of 1,062,095,584 
(2009: 1,062,095,584). 

The potential number of shares that may be issued under the performance fee arrangements with the Investment Adviser 
was 12,214,183 at 30 September 2010 as the value of the incentive scheme was £1.1 million for the first three-year period.

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009

Net assets attributable to equity holders of the parent (£m)     59.0 47.4
Number of Ordinary Shares (000s)       1,062,096 1,062,096
Effect of share-based payment transactions (000’s)      12,214 –
Diluted number of Ordinary Shares (000’s)       1,074,310 1,062,096
NET ASSETS PER SHARE (PENCE)  
Basic net assets per share       5.56 4.49
Diluted net assets per share       5.50 4.49

For EPRA basis net asset value figures refer to note 23.

11. Investment properties
      Freehold  
     Freehold/ and long Long  
     Feuhold leasehold leasehold Total 
2010     £m £m £m £m

At 1 October     414.1 18.6 83.4 516.1
Foreign exchange differences     (8.8) – – (8.8)
Purchases during the year     43.1 – 15.1 58.2
Disposals during the year     (11.6) – – (11.6)
Valuation gains     7.6 0.5 2.0 10.1
At 30 September     444.4 19.1 100.5 564.0
 
      Freehold   
     Freehold/ and long Long  
     Feuhold leasehold leasehold Total 
2009     £m £m £m £m

At 1 October     468.5 22.4 96.1 587.0
Foreign exchange differences     23.3 – – 23.3
Purchases during the year     1.8 – – 1.8
Disposals during the year     (13.4) – (1.9) (15.3)
Valuation losses     (66.1) (3.8) (10.8) (80.7)
At 30 September     414.1 18.6 83.4 516.1
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11. Investment properties continued
At 30 September 2010 the Group owned 81 properties throughout the UK, Germany and the Netherlands.

The Group has made a provision for the potential purchase of the remaining shares in connection with its investments in 
Germany. This amounted to £1.8 million.

All the Group’s investment properties were externally valued as at 30 September 2010 and 30 September 2009 on the basis 
of open market value by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards of the 
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The Group’s valuers are Savills Commercial Limited in the UK and DTZ for 
Continental Europe.

The value of each of the properties has been assessed in accordance with the relevant parts of the Red Book. In particular, 
the Market Value has been assessed in accordance with PS 3.2. Under these provisions, the term “Market Value” means 
“the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing 
seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties have each acted knowledgeably, prudently 
and without compulsion”. 

In undertaking the valuations on the basis of Market Value, the valuers have applied the interpretative commentary which 
has been settled by the International Valuation Standards Committee and which is included in PS 3.2. The RICS considers 
that the application of the Market Value definition provides the same result as Open Market Value, a basis of value 
supported by previous editions of the Red Book.

The valuation does not include any adjustments to reflect any liability to taxation that may arise on disposal, nor for any 
costs associated with disposals incurred by the owner. No allowance has been made to reflect any liability to repay any 
government or other grants, or taxation allowance that may arise on disposals. Deductions have been made to reflect 
purchasers’ acquisition costs. These have been applied according to value on a sliding scale, representative of the typical 
costs that would be incurred in the market.

The valuers have used the following key assumptions:
•  The Market Value of investment properties has been primarily derived using comparable market transactions on arm’s-

length terms and an assessment of market sentiment. The aggregate of the net annual rents receivable from the 
properties and, where relevant, associated costs, have been valued at average yields ranging from 4.0% to 15.6%, which 
reflect the risks inherent in the net cash flows. Valuations reflect, where appropriate, the type of tenants actually in 
occupation or likely to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and the market’s perception of their 
creditworthiness and the remaining useful life of the property.

•  Given the significant fall in rents for some offices over the past year, an increased number of properties in the portfolio are 
considered to be over-rented. To account for this, the element of over-rent has been valued at a higher yield than the 
element of core income to take account of the fact that the tenants are paying in excess of market yields. 

In accordance with Rule 29.3 of the Takeover Code, shareholders should note that the Valuation Reports from DTZ and 
Savills have not taken into account any liability for tax which may arise on a disposal, whether actual or notional, of the 
properties. If the properties which are the subject of the Valuation Reports were to be sold at the amount of the valuations, 
the Board of Wichford estimates that the potential tax liability that would arise would be approximately £0.2 million. Further, 
and as required by the Takeover Code, the Board considers, following consultation with the valuers, that the valuation of the 
properties in total at the date of this statement is not materially different to that used in these financial statements. 

A reconciliation of investment property valuations to the consolidated statement of financial position carrying value of 
investment property is shown below:

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Investment property at Market Value as determined by external valuers    573.5 526.9
Adjustments for items presented separately on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:  
– Add minimum payment under head leases separately included as a payable    3.6 2.0
– Less accrued incentives separately included as a receivable     (11.4) (11.4)
– Less accrued rental income separately included as a receivable     (1.9) (1.6)
– Add accrued rental income separately included as a payable     0.2 0.2
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position carrying value of investment property   564.0 516.1
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12. Trade and other receivables

      Current Non-Current Total 
30 September 2010      £m £m £m

Trade receivables      3.1 – 3.1
VAT recoverable      0.2 – 0.2
Accrued rental incentives      1.1 10.3 11.4
Accrued rental income      0.3 1.6 1.9
Other receivables and prepayments      4.3 – 4.3
Service charge      0.6 – 0.6
      9.6 11.9 21.5

      Current Non-Current Total 
30 September 2009      £m £m £m

Trade receivables      0.9 – 0.9
VAT recoverable      0.3 – 0.3
Accrued rental incentives      0.9 10.5 11.4
Accrued rental income      0.3 1.3 1.6
Other receivables and prepayments      4.0 – 4.0
Service charge      0.8 – 0.8
      7.2 11.8 19.0

As at 30 September 2010 nil trade receivables were impaired (2009: nil). As at 30 September 2010, £0.6 million trade 
receivables were over 120 days but not impaired (2009: nil).

13. Cash at bank
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents       34.6 80.6
Restricted cash       7.1 19.4
Cash at bank       41.7 100.0

At 30 September 2010 there was £7.1 million (2009: £19.4 million) of the cash at bank to which the Group could not get 
instant access. The principal reason for this is that rents received are primarily held in locked bank accounts as interest and 
other related expenses are paid from these monies on the interest payment dates. Of the total amount £6.3 million (2009: 
£14.8 million) was released to pay interest and related expenses within the following 25 days with the surplus being released 
from Restricted Cash. £0.8 million (2009: £4.6 million) was retained in Restricted Cash.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying 
periods dependent on the immediate cash requirements of the Group. 

14. Trade and other payables
      Current Non-Current Total 
30 September 2010      £m £m £m

Rent received in advance      4.8 – 4.8
VAT payable      1.1 – 1.1
Other payables and accruals      9.1 1.9 11.0
Accrued rental income      0.1 0.1 0.2
Service charge      0.7 – 0.7
      15.8 2.0 17.8

 
      Current Non-Current Total 
30 September 2009      £m £m £m

Rent received in advance      7.4 – 7.4
VAT payable      1.9 – 1.9
Other payables and accruals      14.5 1.8 16.3
Accrued rental income      0.1 0.1 0.2
Service charge      0.8 – 0.8
      24.7 1.9 26.6
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15. Borrowings
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

CURRENT  
Bank loans       47.0 63.6
NON-CURRENT  
Bank loans       467.9 465.3
   Less: deferred finance costs       (1.3) (3.8)
Finance leases       3.6 2.0
       470.2 463.5

a) Bank Loans
At 30 September 2010, the bank borrowings of £514.9 million (2009: £528.9 million) are secured by fixed and floating 
charges over the assets and income streams of the Group. It comprised of seven separate borrowing facilities each secured 
on a number of discrete assets with no common assets.  

These facilities are summarised as below:
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009 Interest
Facility Lender     £m £m Rate*

Delta  Windermere XI CMBS    114.6 114.6  5.69%
Gamma  Windermere VIII CMBS   199.7 199.7 5.52%
Hague  SNS Property Finance    18.9 20.2 7.19%
Halle  Windermere XIV CMBS   31.9 34.0 5.05%
VBG1 Talisman 3    57.7 63.6 1.93%
VBG2 Talisman 4    46.1 50.8 5.03%
Zeta  Lloyds TSB    46.0 46.0 3.88%
      514.9 528.9 

*Note: inclusive of swaps fixed rate (excluding VBG1).

The Gamma and Delta facilities are non-reducing and had repayment dates in October 2010. Both have been put into 
securitisation conduits by the lender. The Company has successfully completed an extension of these facilities which now 
have repayment dates in October 2012 with all other terms and conditions remaining the same.

The Hague facility, which was entered into by the Group in July 2008, was non-reducing and has a final repayment date in July 
2014. Subsequent to the 30 September 2009 the Group agreed that for the period from November 2009 to October 2010 this 
facility will become a reducing loan whereby 0.25% of the initial outstanding balance will be repaid over that period in equal 
quarterly amounts. This was agreed together with a liquidity surcharge and increased margin imposed by the lender. These 
changes were reviewed in October 2010 and the revised conditions were extended until October 2011. As a result of the 
imposition of the liquidity surcharge and increased margin, the interest cover test would have failed and the lender granted a 
waiver of this test until October 2010 which, as part of the review in October 2010, has since been extended until October 2011.

This facility contains a cross-default provision that enables SNS Property Finance to demand repayment of the facility if there 
is an event of default under any other Group facility. SNS Property Finance’s recourse is limited to the Hague property and its 
rental income. Notwithstanding the terms of this cross-default provision, in the event that such a default occurred under any of 
the other Group facilities, the Company has been advised that it would be difficult for SNS Property Finance to demand 
repayment of the Hague facility pursuant to this cross-default provision in the absence of either a payment default under the 
Hague facility or Den Haag’s actual or threatened insolvency.

The Halle facility is non-reducing and has a repayment date in April 2014. The facility was already in place when the Group 
acquired the property on which it is secured in September 2007 and it was re-stated in October 2007 to increase the amount 
borrowed from €31.9 million to €37.1 million. This facility was originally entered into in February 2007.

The VBG facilities are reducing dependent upon expected rent rises with final repayment dates in January 2010 for VBG1 
(extended during the year to 30 September 2010 to January 2012) and April 2011 for VBG2. However, on acquisition of the 
properties, part of the purchase price was paid into escrow accounts such that all expected reductions of these bank loans 
will be funded by the escrow accounts. These facilities have been put into securitisation conduits by the lender. The Group 
took on responsibility for these facilities on the acquisition of the properties on which they are secured, in June 2007. 
Following the final repayment date for the VBG1 facility the Company has negotiated a two-year extension to this facility where 
the terms and conditions were mainly the same. However, the interest rate swaps associated with this facility matured on the 
repayment date in January 2010 and the Company has taken out interest rate caps which protect against future increases in 
interest rates and allow money to be released to the Group on each interest payment date. The on-going LTV covenant has 
also been waived.



C
onsolid

ated financials

Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010

51

15. Borrowings continued
The VBG2 facility matures in May 2011 and the loan servicer has called for a valuation of the two properties over which 
security was granted. The result of this was that the LTV covenant was not being met and the loan servicer has granted a 
waiver of this covenant while the longer term future of this facility is discussed. The Company is currently negotiating with 
the loan servicer over the future of this facility. It is the Company’s view that a similar extension to that achieved on the 
VBG1 facility can be agreed although there can be no certainty that a similar or any agreement is reached on the extension 
of the VBG2 facility.

The Zeta facility, which was entered into by the Group in May 2008, is non-reducing and had a repayment date in May 2011. 
The Company has, during the year, been able to successfully negotiate terms for a two-year extension allowed under the 
original facility agreement. This facility now has a final repayment date in May 2013 on the same terms and conditions.

The opportunity was taken to replace the existing swaps on the Zeta facility with a composite one extending out to the final 
repayment date in May 2013. 

The Delta, Gamma and Halle facilities provide for the payment of interest at a fixed rate. However, the respective borrowing 
subsidiaries have given indemnities to the lenders in respect of interest rate swaps entered into to create those fixed rates. 
As such these facilities have been treated as floating rate facilities with interest rate swaps. All of the facilities, except the 
VBG1 facility, are regarded as subject to the interest rate swaps of either ones with a Group entity as a counter-party or 
where the facility agreement requires such instruments to be in place and have been taken out by the lender as detailed in 
note 16. The derivatives for the Delta, Gamma and Halle facilities do not have a Group company as counter-party but the 
Company recognises that it benefits from them and so has decided to recognise them separately. On these facilities the 
Group is charged a fixed interest rate equal to the strike rate for these derivatives. 

The exception to this interest rate swap regime is the VBG1 facility which now has interest rate caps associated with it. 
These derivatives are described in note 16.

b) Finance Leases
Obligations under finance leases at the reporting dates are analysed as follows:
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Gross finance lease liabilities repayable:  
In one year or less       0.2 0.1
In more than one year, but not more than five years      0.8 0.5
In more than five years       15.4 9.6
       16.4 10.2
Less: finance charges allocated to future periods      (12.8) (8.2)
Present value of minimum lease payments       3.6 2.0
 
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Present value of finance lease liabilities repayable:  
In one year or less        – –
In more than one year, but not more than five years      0.2 0.1
In more than five years       3.4 1.9
Present value of minimum lease payments       3.6 2.0

The present values of minimum lease payments have been calculated by using the market cost of external borrowings 
available to the Group at the inception of the lease. 

16. Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into interest rate swaps and interest rate cap agreements. The purpose is to manage the interest rate 
risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The interest rate swaps employed by the Group to convert the Group’s borrowings to fixed interest ones fall into two 
categories, as explained in a) i) and ii) below. 

The interest rate caps employed by the Group limit the exposure to upward movements in interest rates. These are detailed 
in b) below.

It is the Group’s policy that no economic trading in derivatives shall be undertaken.

a) Interest rate swap agreements
In accordance with the terms of the borrowing arrangements, the Group has entered into interest swap agreements.
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16. Derivative financial instruments continued
The interest rate swaps are used to manage the interest rate profile of financial liabilities. The Group has employed interest 
rate swaps to eliminate future exposure to interest rate fluctuations as well as being charged fixed rate interest on those 
facilities described as having lender level interest rate swaps as described below. 

The total amount of notional value of these interest rate swaps, both those at lender level and borrower level, at 30 
September 2010 was £457.2 million (2009: £529.1 million) and the blended fixed rate achieved by these interest rate swaps 
was 4.35% (2009: 4.25%).

These interest rate swaps can be segregated into two types: Lender level and Borrower level. These are detailed below.

i) Lender level interest rate swap agreements
Lender level interest rate swaps agreements are those from which the Group benefits but which do not have any Group 
entity as a counter-party, instead the lender is the counter-party with the commercial banking entity providing the interest 
rate swap. These arise where the loan agreements call for interest rate swaps to be taken out to allow a fixed interest 
charge to be made to the borrowing subsidiaries and these borrowers have given indemnities to the lenders in respect to 
these interest rate swaps.

The interest rate swaps for the Delta, Gamma and Halle facilities, from which the Group benefits by both eliminating any 
interest rate fluctuations in the market over the course of the facilities and also from any benefit (or cost) of closing these 
instruments out, are lender level interest rate swaps. They are between the CMBS vehicles (the lenders) and commercial 
banking counter-parties.

The Company recognises these embedded derivatives separately as, while the Group is charged interest at a fixed rate on 
these facilities, the terms of the facilities mean the Group ultimately receives their benefit or pays their burdens.

As a result of the use of interest rate swaps, the fixed rate profile of the Group’s lender level interest rate swaps was:

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
Facility   Effective Date   Maturity Date Swap Rate  £m £m

Delta   21/07/2006  15/10/2012 4.95% 114.6 114.6
Gamma   23/05/2005  20/10/2012 4.77% 199.7 199.7
Halle   19/02/2007  22/04/2014 4.19% 31.9 34.0
Total        346.2 348.3

The fair values of the interest rate swaps at 30 September was:
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
Facility       £m £m

Delta       (9.1) (8.4)
Gamma       (15.1) (13.7)
Halle       (3.0) (2.6)
Total        (27.2) (24.7)

ii)  Borrower level interest rate swap agreements
Borrower level interest rate swap agreements are those that have a Group company as the counter-party to the commercial 
bank providing the interest rate swap.

The Group has taken out such interest rate swaps in respect of its Hague, VBG1, VBG2 and Zeta facilities.

As a result of the use of interest rate swaps, the fixed rate profile of the Group was:

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
Facility   Effective Date   Maturity Date Swap Rate  £m £m

Hague   01/08/2008  01/08/2014 4.89% 18.9 20.2
VBG1   29/06/2007  15/01/2010 3.15% – 42.9
VBG1   29/06/2007  15/01/2010 3.22% – 20.9
VBG2   27/04/2007  15/04/2011 3.93% 46.1 50.8
Zeta   08/05/2008  09/05/2011 5.30% – 17.0
Zeta   21/07/2008  09/05/2011 5.79% – 9.0
Zeta   24/07/2009  09/05/2011 2.15% – 20.0
Zeta   20/07/2010  09/05/2013 2.73% 46.0 –
Total        111.0 180.8
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16. Derivative financial instruments continued
The fair value of these interest rate swaps at 30 September was:
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Hague       (2.4) (2.4)
VBG1       – (0.8)
VBG2       (0.7) (2.4)
Zeta       (1.8) (2.2)
Total       (4.9) (7.8)

b) Interest rate caps agreements 
The Group has entered into two interest rate caps in the year in order to take advantage of the low interest rates in the market 
while at the same time protecting the Group against any significant increases in these interest rates. The interest rate caps 
were taken out for the VBG1 facility. The interest rate swaps in respect of the VBG1 facility matured during the year.

As a result of the use of interest rate caps, the fixed maximum rate profile of the Group was:
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
Facility   Effective Date   Maturity Date Cap Rate  £m £m

VBG1   15/07/2010  15/01/2012 2.5% 57.7 –
Total        57.7 –

The fair value of these interest rate caps at 30 September was:
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

VBG1       – –
       – –

These interest rate caps have not been designated as cash flow hedges and all changes in fair value will be taken through 
the profit or loss.

c) Summary of fair value of interest rate swaps and interest rate caps
Below is a summary of the interest rate derivatives detailed above.

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Fair value of lender level interest rate swaps       (27.2) (24.7)
Fair value of borrower level interest rate swaps      (4.9) (7.8)
  
Fair value of interest rate swaps       (32.1) (32.5)
  
Fair value of interest rate caps       – –
  
Fair value of the Group’s derivative arrangements      (32.1) (32.5)
 
d) Forward exchange agreements
The Group entered into short-term foreign exchange sale and purchase contracts for the purpose of mitigating the Group’s 
exposure to foreign exchange rate movements on its investments in foreign property acquisitions. 

At the reporting date the Group had no outstanding foreign exchange agreements. 

e) Hedge accounting
The loss of £32.9 million on the fair value of the interest rate swaps (2009: loss of £34.1 million) in the year to 30 September 
2010 is reported in other comprehensive income as the Group has applied cash flow hedge accounting to their swap 
agreements. The cash flow hedges have been assessed, with the exception of the Zeta interest rate swaps as explained 
below, as being highly effective. 

On 20 July 2010 the three Zeta interest rate swaps were replaced with one interest rate swap that took advantage of the low 
interest rates at the time for the extended period of the Zeta borrowing facility and therefore hedge accounting using the original 
three swaps has been discontinued prospectively. The fair value of these old derivatives has been recognised through profit or 
loss from that date and the cumulative balance in the cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified from other comprehensive income 
to profit or loss based on the original terms of the swaps as the original expected transaction is still expected to occur. 
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16. Derivative financial instruments continued
The undiscounted cash flows of the hedged items shown in cash flow hedge accounting are expected to occur in the 
following periods:
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

In one year or less       16.4 17.9
In more than one year, but not more than two years      13.7 9.5
In more than two years, but not more than three years      2.9 5.0
In more than three years, but not more than four years      0.8 1.1
In more than four years, but not more than five years      – 0.4
In more than five years       – –
       33.8 33.9

It is expected that the cash flows will affect the profit or loss in the period of occurrence.

17. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives (note 16), comprise bank loans, finance lease liabilities 
and cash. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various 
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks that are summarised below.

The financial risks and the ways in which the Group manages them are listed as follows:

a) Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through equity, retained profits and bank borrowings. The Delta, Gamma and Halle 
facilities are charged fixed interest rates created by the lender level interest rate swap arrangements detailed in note 16 
above with all other of the Group’s bank borrowings being charged at variable interest rates. 

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt 
obligations with floating interest rates. The Group uses interest rate derivatives to fully mitigate its exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations. At the year end, as a result of the use of interest rate swaps, the majority of the Group’s borrowings were at 
fixed interest rates.

The table below shows the Group’s interest rate profile at 30 September.
    
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009

Weighted average interest rate        5.00% 5.34%
Weighted average period       2.9 years 3.0 years

The Group’s profit before tax therefore has limited exposure to interest rate fluctuations until the repayment dates of the 
loans for which the interest rate swaps have been arranged. 
 
b) Exchange rate risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on assets, liabilities and earnings that are denominated in a currency other 
than pounds Sterling.

As the Group owns properties in Continental Europe, there is risk of movements in €/£ exchange rates. The Group 
minimises the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate movements by matching, as much as possible, the investment 
properties and associated loans in the same currency.

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group’s Euro denominated assets and liabilities in Euro.

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       €m €m

Assets        165.3 182.1
Liabilities       (263.4) (278.0)
Net exposure       (98.1) (95.9)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the €/£ exchange rate, with all variables 
held constant, of the Group’s equity.
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17. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
        Effect on
       Increase/decrease equity 
       in €/£ exchange rate £m

2010       +5% 4.0
       -5% (4.0)
2009       +5% 2.3
       -5%  (2.3)
 
The €/£ exchange rate as at 30 September 2010 was 1.16170 (2009: 1.09120). The average rate for the year was 1.15088 
(2009: 1.14662).
 
c) Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties such as State and Central Government departments. It is 
the Group’s policy that all tenants who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, the Group further manages the credit risks by employing specialist property managers to monitor the properties. 
The result is that £0.6m of trade and other receivables were over 120 days at 30 September 2010 (2009: nil).

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents 
and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a 
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The majority of counterparties of financial assets 
are investment grade or above.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end was:

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Cash at bank       41.7 100.0
Trade and other receivables       7.4 4.9
Total       49.1 104.9

d) Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds through the use of both short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts. 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts and bank loans.

The table below represents the maturity profile of contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal flows. Where the interest payable 
is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the interest rate yield curves at the reporting date. Where 
payment obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the reporting date is used.

      Finance Derivative Trade 
     Bank  lease financial and other 
     loans liabilities liabilities payables 
At 30 September 2010     £m £m £m £m

In one year or less     56.4 0.2 16.4 15.8
In more than one year, but not more than two years    66.9 0.2 13.7 0.1
In more than two years, but not more than three years    363.2 0.2 2.9 1.9
In more than three years, but not more than four years    51.6 0.2 0.8 –
In more than four years, but not more than five years    – 0.2 – –
In more than five years     – 15.4 – –
Total contractual cash flows     538.1 16.4 33.8 17.8
Carrying amount     514.9 3.6 32.1 17.8

      Finance Derivative Trade 
     Bank  lease financial and other 
     loans liabilities liabilities payables 
At 30 September 2009     £m £m £m £m

In one year or less     76.3 0.1 17.9 24.7
In more than one year, but not more than two years    111.4 0.1 9.5 0.1
In more than two years, but not more than three years    17.9 0.1 5.0 –
In more than three years, but not more than four years    318.3 0.1 1.1 1.8
In more than four years, but not more than five years    56.1 0.2 0.4 –
In more than five years     – 9.6 – –
Total contractual cash flows     580.0 10.2 33.9 26.6
Carrying amount     528.9 2.0 32.5 26.6
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17. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
e) Fair value
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown on the consolidated statement of financial position at 30 
September are as follows:
 
       Carrying amount Fair value 
At 30 September 2010       £m £m

Cash at bank (loans and receivables)       41.7 41.7
Trade and other receivables (loans and receivables)      7.4 7.4
Trade and other payables (other financial liabilities)      (11.0) (11.0)
Borrowings (other financial liabilities)       (518.5) (492.6)
Derivative financial liabilities (derivatives)       (32.1) (32.1)

       Carrying amount Fair value 
At 30 September 2009       £m £m

Cash at bank (loans and receivables)       100.0 100.0
Trade and other receivables (loans and receivables)      4.9 4.9
Trade and other payables (other financial liabilities)      (16.3) (16.3)
Borrowings (other financial liabilities)       (530.9) (504.4)
Derivative financial liabilities (derivatives)       (32.5) (32.5)

The fair value of borrowings is estimated based on instruments with similar credit profiles. This is a highly judgmental 
estimate as no observable market quotes are available to the Group.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group’s accounting policy on fair value measurements of financial instruments is discussed in note 2. The Group 
measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements.

• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.
• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs.
• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices or 
dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments the Group determines fair values using valuation techniques.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for 
which market observable prices exist. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and 
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating discount rates, foreign currency exchange 
rates and expected price volatilities and correlations. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value 
determination that reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined by 
market participants acting at arm’s length.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more simple financial 
instruments such as interest rate that use only observable market data and require little management judgement and 
estimation. Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for simple over the counter derivatives, 
e.g. interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management 
judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. Availability of 
observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on 
specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

The following is a summary of the classifications of the financial liabilities at fair value as at 30 September 2010:

        Total Fair 
30 September 2010     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value

Interest rate swaps     – 32.1 – 32.1
Interest rate caps     – – – –
     – 32.1 – 32.1

No financial instruments were transferred between levels during the year. 

No instruments have been categorised as Level 3.
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17. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
f)  Capital Management
The Company’s Articles of Association set out the borrowing powers of the Company. This defines a maximum amount that 
could be borrowed to be ten times the issued share capital of the Company and the capital and revenue reserves of the 
Company. This gives a maximum borrowing power at 30 September 2010 of £2.549 million (2009: £3,547 million). The 
Company expects to remain within this maximum for the foreseeable future.

The Company looks to maintain a progressive dividend policy supported by earnings from Trading Operations. The 
dividend proposed for the year of 0.65 pence per share equates to £6.9 million. 

18. Authorised and issued share capital
On 28 August 2009 Shareholders approved, and the Company implemented, a share re-organisation whereby each 
Ordinary Share of 10 pence was split into one Ordinary Share of 1 penny and one Deferred Share of 9 pence.

The Shareholders, at the same meeting, approved an increase in the Authorised Share Capital of the Company to £26.2 
million by the creation of additional Ordinary Shares.

These steps were taken to allow a rights issue to be made that was also approved at the General Meeting on 28 August 
2009 and resulted in the issuance of 929,333,636 new Ordinary Shares on 25 September 2009. These new Ordinary Shares 
did not rank for the interim dividend paid on 28 September 2009 of 3 pence per share.

At the Annual General Meeting in January 2010 the Shareholders voted to cancel the Deferred Shares and the High Court in 
the Isle of Man approved the cancellation in April 2010 and the shares were duly cancelled.

Following this, and in accordance with the resolutions passed as the Annual General Meeting in January 2010 an additional 
3,583,857,532 Ordinary Shares were created to bring the total number of authorised Ordinary Shares to 5,000,000,000 and 
an authorised share capital of £50.0 million.

      30 September  30 September 
      2010  2009

AUTHORISED  
Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– number      5,000,000,000  1,416,142,468
– £m      50.0  14.2
  
Deferred Shares of 9 pence each  
– number      –  132,761,948
– £m      –  12.0
  
ISSUED, CALLED UP AND FULLY PAID  
Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– number      1,062,095,584  1,062,095,584
– £m      10.6  10.6
  
Deferred Shares of 9 pence each  
– number      –  132,761,948
– £m      –  12.0

Holders of the Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends and other distributions and to attend and vote at any 
general meeting.
      30 September 30 September 
Number      2010 2009

Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– ranking for dividends for the current year      1,062,095,584 132,761,948
– not ranking for interim dividend for the previous year     – 929,333,636
      1,062,095,584 1,062,095,584

      30 September 30 September 
£m      2010 2009

Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– ranking for dividends for the current year      10.6 1.3
– not ranking for interim dividend for the previous year     – 9.3
      10.6  10.6
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19. Equity
In March 2009 the Company received approval from the High Court in the Isle of Man to its request to transfer the £50.0 
million from Share Premium to distributable reserves.

In September 2009 the Company, prior to the Rights Issue, converted its Ordinary Shares of 10 pence per share into 
Ordinary Shares of 1 penny per share and Deferred Shares of 9 pence per share before issuing 929,333,636 new Ordinary 
Shares of 1 penny each. This resulted in an increase of equity of £52.0 million, net of expenses.

In April 2010 the Company received approval from the High Court in the Isle of Man to its request to cancel the Deferred 
shares of £12.0 million issued by the Company in September 2009. The Deferred shares were duly cancelled and their 
nominal value transferred to distributable reserves.

20. Operating leases
The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases.

The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
       £m £m

Not later than one year       44.6 42.7
Later than one year and not more than five years      176.8 153.4
Later than five years       244.6 166.8
       466.0 362.9

There were no contingent rents recognised as income in the period (2009: nil).

The Group leases its properties primarily to Central and State Government bodies typically on long-term occupational 
leases which provide for regular reviews of rent on an effective upwards only basis.

21. Dividends
       30 September 30 September
       2010 2009
Ordinary dividend paid       £m £m

Final dividend for 2008 – 3.15 pence per Ordinary Share of 10 pence    – 4.2
Interim dividend for 2009 – 3.0 pence per Ordinary Share of 10 pence    – 4.0
Final dividend for 2009 – 0.31 pence per Ordinary Share of 1 pence    3.3 –
Interim dividend for 2010 – 0.32 pence per Ordinary Share of 1 pence    3.4 –
       6.7 8.2

The Directors are proposing a final dividend for the year of 0.33 pence per Ordinary share of 1 penny nominal value 
(amounting to £3.5 million). Shareholders will be asked to approve this dividend at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 
and, if approved, the dividend will be paid on 1 March 2011 to all those Shareholders on the register as the close of business 
on 4 February 2011.

22. Capital commitments
As at 30 September 2010, the Group had capital commitments of approximately £1.9 million (2009: nil) for the purchase of 
an additional property in the UK. This purchase was completed on 7 December 2010.

23. Performance measures
The European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) issued Best Practices Policy Recommendations in November 2006 
which gives guidelines for performance measures. These include earnings per share and net asset value definitions which 
are different from those under IFRS. The Company considers that these measures are more appropriate for comparisons 
over time.
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23. Performance measures continued
These definitions are used in the tables below.
Earnings per share
       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders –  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (£m)      17.0 (75.4)
Adjustments  
– (Surplus)/deficit on revaluation of investment properties (£m)     (10.1) 80.7
– Loss on sale of investment properties (£m)      0.9 0.5
– Effect of derivatives (£m)       1.4 0.1
– Deferred tax (£m)       (0.4) 0.8
EPRA basis earnings (£m)       8.8 6.7
  
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (000’s)      1,062,096 1,062,096
  
EPRA basis Earnings Per Share (pence)       0.83 0.63

Net asset value
       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009

Net assets attributable to equity holders of the parent –  
consolidated statement of financial position (£m)      59.0 47.4
Adjustments  
– Fair value of derivatives (£m)       32.1 32.5
– Deferred tax (£m)       1.1 1.5
EPRA basis net assets (£m)       92.2 81.4

Number of Ordinary Shares (000’s)       1,062,096 1,062,096

EPRA basis Net assets per share (pence)       8.67 7.66

24. Related Party transactions
WPML, the Investment Adviser, is wholly owned by Redefine Investment Managers (UK) Limited and at 30 September 2010 
in association with directly linked entities Redefine International plc held 21.73% of the issued Ordinary shares of the 
Company. Mr Cesman, as a director of some of these associated entities to Redefine International plc, served as  
a Director of the Company for the financial year. During the year he retired as a director of the Redefine companies but 
remained a director of the Company. On 8 November 2010 Mr Cesman retired as a Director of the Company.

The Investment Adviser’s fees, performance fee and property manager’s fee as outlined in note 5 was payable to WPML  
as are agent’s fees for acquisitions and disposals as well as fees for arranging lease extensions. These, together with 
Director’s remuneration in note 6 amount to the whole of the related part transactions. These are summarised below:

       30 September 30 September 
       2010 2009 
       £m £m

Property Adviser’s fees  
– for advisory services       3.1 3.5
– for accrued performance fees       0.4 –
Property Manager’s fees       0.3 –
Agent’s fees for acquisitions and disposals       0.5 –
Fees for arranging lease extensions       – –
Director’s fees       – –
Total for related parties       4.3 3.5

25. Events after the reporting year end
The Directors are proposing a final dividend for the year of 0.33 pence per Ordinary share of 1 penny nominal value 
(amounting to £3.5 million). Shareholders will be asked to approve this dividend at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 
and, if approved, the dividend will be paid on 1 March 2011 to all those Shareholders on the register as the close of business 
on 4 February 2011.

26. Approval
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 16 December 2010.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Wichford P.L.C.

We have audited the Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Wichford P.L.C. for the year ended 30 
September 2010 which comprise the Company balance sheet and the related notes. These financials statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with the Section 15 of the Companies Act 
1982. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an Auditor’s Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice are set out in the Statement of Director’s Responsibilities 
on page 31.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and are properly prepared in accordance with Isle of Man Companies 
Acts 1931-2004 (as amended).

We also report to you, if in our opinion the Company has not kept proper accounting records or if we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for the audit. 

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements. The other information comprises only the Report of the Directors. We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.

It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the 
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in 
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the 
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

•  the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice as applied in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931-2004 (as amended) of the state 
of the Company’s affairs as at 30 September 2010;

•  the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 
1931-2004 (as amended); and

•  the information given in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the Company  financial statements.

KPMG
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
Dublin, Ireland

16 December 2010
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Company Balance Sheet
As at 30 September 2010

       30 September  30 September
         2010  2009
       Notes  £m  £m

Fixed assets   
Investments      2 201.9 274.7
Current assets   
Debtors      3 49.9 31.6
Cash at bank       27.5 61.9
Total assets       279.3 368.2
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year     4 (0.6) (2.6)
Total assets less current liabilities       278.7 365.6
Creditors – amounts falling due after one year     5 (34.4) (33.5)
Net assets       244.3 332.1
   
Capital & Reserves   
Called up share capital      6 10.6 22.6
Share premium account      7 161.4 161.4
Profit & loss account      8 72.3 148.1
Equity shareholders’ funds      9 244.3 332.1

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16 December 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Ita McArdle Richard Melhuish    
Director Director
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Notes to the Company Accounts

1. Accounting policies
A summary of the significant accounting policies is set out below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the 
year.

Basis of Presentation
The financial information has been prepared under historical cost convention, and in accordance with applicable Isle of 
Man law and United Kingdom accounting standards.

Profit for the Year
As permitted under Section 3 of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982, the Company has not published its own income 
statement.

Cash Flow Statement
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 1 not to produce a cash flow statement as one is published 
for the consolidated financial statements.

Fixed Assets
Investments in subsidiaries are shown in the Company balance sheet as financial fixed assets and are valued at cost less 
provisions for impairments in value.

Cash at Bank
Cash and short-term deposits in the Company balance sheet comprise cash at bank, short-term deposits held at call with 
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments.

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at their fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.  
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the Company will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to original terms of the receivables concerned. Where such a provision for 
impairment has been made then the fair value on initial recognition less the provision is the amortised cost. 

Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Interest Income and Expense
Interest income and expense is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate basis.

Expenses
Expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.

Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are recognised through profit and loss.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax, UK income tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid or 
recovered using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantially enacted, by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet 
date. Where transactions or events have occurred at that date, that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay 
less or receive more, tax, with the following exception:

•  Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not that there 
will be suitable taxable profits from which the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Where required deferred tax is provided, without discounting, under the liability method at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted, or substantively enacted, at 
the balance sheet date.
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1. Accounting policies continued
Share-based Payments
The grant-date fair value of equity share-based payment awards granted to the Investment Adviser is recognised as an 
expense, with the corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the Investment Adviser become entitled to the 
awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related non market 
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the 
number of awards that meet the related non market condition performance conditions at the vesting date.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

2. Investments
       30 September  30 September 
         2010  2009 
         £m  £m

As at 1 October       274.7 249.8
Foreign exchange differences       (3.1) 9.8
Additions       57.0 18.5
Reductions       (35.2) (3.4)
Provisions       (91.5) –
As at 30 September       201.9 274.7
    
The principal subsidiaries, whose results are included in these financial statements are:
 
       % Equity owned by:
Principal subsidiary     Principal activity  Company Subsidiary

INCORPORATED IN BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS   
Wichford Centenary Court Limited   Property Investment  100.00
 
INCORPORATED IN GERMANY   
B. Holding II GmbH    Holding Company  94.80
B. Holding III GmbH    Holding Company  94.80
Dandelion KG    Property Investment  96.36
Dandelion Verwaltungsgesellschaft mb H    General Partner*  96.36
Ebony KG    Property Investment  96.36
   
Ebony Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH    General Partner**  96.36
Justizzentrum Halle Parkplatz Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co. KG  Property Investment  100.00
Justizzentrum in Halle Wichford & Co. KG    Property Investment  93.87
Justizzentrum in Halle Wichford Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH General Partner***  100.00
Ludwigsburg Property GmbH & Co. KG    Property Investment  96.36
Ludwigsburg Property Management GmbH    General Partner****  100.00
Ludwigsburg Real Estate Management GmbH   Holding Company  96.30
Ticino Property GmbH & Co. KG    Property Investment  96.36
Ticino Property Management GmbH    General Partner*****  100.00
Ticino Real Estate Management GmbH    Holding Company  96.30
Wichford Parkplatz GmbH    Property Investment  100.00
       



Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010
64

Notes to the Company accounts continued

       % Equity owned by:
Principal subsidiary     Principal activity  Company Subsidiary

INCORPORATED IN GIBRALTAR   
Wichford Edgbaston Limited    Property Investment   100.00
 
INCORPORATED IN GREAT BRITAIN   
Wichford Carlisle Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Ladywell Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Property General Partner Limited     Holding Company  100.00
 
INCORPORATED IN THE ISLE OF MAN   
Wichford Property (LP) Limited    Holding Company 100.00
Wichford Alpha Limited    Holding Company 100.00
Wichford Atherton Wigan Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford City Court Dundee Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford DSA Dundee Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Glidewell Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Liverpool Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Park Place Leeds Limited    Investment Property  100.00
Wichford Parliament Square Edinburgh Limited   Investment Property  100.00
Wichford Sheffield Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford St George House Leeds Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford St Helens Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Swindon Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Temple Back Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Wellesley Road Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford West Tullos Aberdeen Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Weymouth Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Beta Limited    Holding Company 100.00 
Wichford Bedford Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Bromley Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Hartlepool Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Manchester Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Northampton Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Redcar Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Rotherham Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Washington Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Wigan Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Gamma Limited    Holding Company 100.00 
Wichford Aberdeen (Atholl House) Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Aberdeen (Cullen House) Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Acton Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Barnsley Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Basildon No 1 Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Billingham Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Birkenhead Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Birmingham Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Bradford Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Bridgewater Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Chester Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Chippenham Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Dalkeith Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Dundee Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford G3 Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Grays Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Leeds Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Lindsay Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Llandarcy Park Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Newport Road Limited    Property Investment  100.00
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       % Equity owned by:
Principal subsidiary     Principal activity  Company Subsidiary

Wichford Paisley Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Peterborough Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Plymouth Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Property Holdings No 3 Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Redditch Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Riverside Exchange Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Salford Quays Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Smethwick Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Sparkhill Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford St Asaph Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford St Mellons Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Swansea Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Telford Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Wakefield Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Waterside Leeds Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Wolverhampton Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Delta Limited    Holding Company 100.00 
Wichford Bristol Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Chatham Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Chelmsford Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Durley Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Molineux Wolverhampton Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Newcastle Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Newington Causeway Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford North Street Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Norwich Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Tamar Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Trentside Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Uxbridge Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford West Point Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Woodlands Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Europe Limited    Holding Company  100.00
Wichford Halle Limited    Property Investment 100.00
Wichford Halle II Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Halle III Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Halle IV Limited     Property Investment   100.00
 
INCORPORATED IN JERSEY   
Exchange House Unit Trust    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Harrow Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Ipswich Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Oldham Limited    Property Investment  100.00
Wichford Southampton Limited      Property Investment   100.00
 
INCORPORATED IN LUXEMBOURG   
Concertine SA    Holding Company  100.00
Mirano SA    Holding Company  100.00
Wichford Dandelion Holding sarl    Holding Company 100.00 
Wichford Ebony Holding sarl    Holding Company  100.00
Wichford VGB Holding sarl     Holding Company  100.00 
 
* General Partner of Dandelion KG
** General Partner of Ebony KG
** General Partner of Justizzentrum in Halle Wichford GmbH & Co. KG
**** General Partner of Ludwigsburg Property GmbH & Co. KG
*****  General Partner of Ticino Property & Co. KG
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Notes to the Company accounts continued

3. Debtors
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

VAT recoverable      – 0.2
Prepayments      0.1 2.2
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings      49.8 29.2
Total debtors      49.9 31.6

4. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

Other creditors and accruals      0.6  2.6
Total creditors falling due within one year      0.6  2.6

5. Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings      34.4  33.5
Total creditors falling due after one year      34.4  33.5

6. Called up share capital
In March 2009 the Company received approval from the High Court in the Isle of Man to its request to transfer the  
£50.0 million from Share Premium to distributable reserves.

On 28 August 2009 Shareholders approved, and the Company implemented, a share re-organisation whereby each 
Ordinary Share of 10 pence was split into one Ordinary Share of 1 penny and one Deferred Share of 9 pence.

The Shareholders, at the same meeting, approved an increase in the Authorised Share Capital of the Company to  
£26.2 million by the creation of additional Ordinary Shares.

In September 2009 the Company, prior to the Rights Issue, converted its Ordinary Shares of 10 pence per share into 
Ordinary Shares of 1 penny per share and Deferred Shares of 9 pence per share before issuing 929,333,636 new Ordinary 
Shares of 1 penny each. This resulted in an increase of equity of £52.0 million, net of expenses.

On 28 January 2010 Shareholders approved, subject to the confirmation of the court, the cancellation of all of the  
Deferred Shares in issue (£12.0 million). The court subsequently confirmed the cancellation in April 2010 and the Company 
duly implemented the cancellation.

The Shareholders, at the same meeting, approved an increase in the Authorised Share Capital of the Company to  
£50.0 million by the creation of additional Ordinary Shares.

      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009

AUTHORISED  
Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– number      5,000,000,000 1,416,142,468
– £m      50.0 14.2
  
Deferred Shares of 9 pence each   
– number      – 132,761,948
– £m      – 12.0
  
ISSUED, CALLED UP AND FULLY PAID  
Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– number      1,062,095,584 1,062,095,584
– £m      10.6 10.6
  
Deferred Shares of  9 pence each   
– number      – 132,761,948
– £m      – 12.0
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6. Called up share capital continued
Holders of the Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends and other distributions and to attend and vote at any 
general meeting.

      30 September 30 September
Number      2010 2009

Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– ranking for dividends for the current year      1,062,095,584 132,761,948
– not ranking for interim dividend for the previous year     –  929,333,636
      1,062,095,584 1,062,095,584

      30 September 30 September
£m      2010 2009

Ordinary Shares of 1 penny each  
– ranking for dividends for the current year      10.6 1.3
– not ranking for interim dividend for the previous year     -  9.3
      10.6  10.6
 
7. Share premium account
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

As at 1 October      161.4 168.7
Premium on shares issued in year (net of expenses)     – 42.7
Transfer to distributable reserves      –  (50.0)
As at 30 September      161.4  161.4

8. Profit and loss account
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

As at 1 October      148.1 82.8
(Loss)/profit for the year      (81.5) 23.5
Dividends paid      (6.7) (8.2)
Share based payment transaction      0.4 –
Transfer to distributable reserves      12.0  50.0
As at 30 September      72.3  148.1

9. Reconciliation of shareholders’ funds
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

As at 1 October      332.1 264.8
(Loss)/profit for the year      (81.5) 23.5
Dividends paid      (6.7) (8.2)
Share based payment transaction      0.4 –
Gross proceeds from issue of Ordinary Shares     – 55.8
Share issue costs      –  (3.8)
As at 30 September      244.3  332.1

10. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise investments to subsidiaries undertakings and cash. The main 
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the subsidiaries’ operations. The Company has various other financial 
assets and liabilities such as debtors and creditors. 

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks that are summarised below.
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Notes to the Company accounts continued

10. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
a) Interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Company is as follows:
      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
Fixed rate assets/liabilities      £m £m

Investments in subsidiaries undertakings      201.9  274.7

      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
Variable rate assets      £m £m

Cash at bank      27.5  61.9

The weighted average interest rate of the investments in subsidiaries undertakings and cash at bank is 7.5% and LIBOR 
respectively.

b) Exchange rate risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on assets, liabilities and earnings that are denominated in a currency 
other than pounds Sterling.

      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

Assets      54.3  60.0

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the €/£ exchange rate, with all variables 
held constant, of the Company’s profit before tax due to changes in value of loans from/to subsidiaries undertakings and 
interest streams. 
 
        Effect on profit 
      Increase/decrease  before tax 
      in €/£ exchange rate  £m

2010      +5%  (2.6)
      -5%  2.6
2009      +5%  (2.9)
      -5%  2.9

The €/£ exchange rate as at 30 September 2010 was 1.16170 (2009: 1.09120). 

c) Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end was:

      30 September 30 September
      2010 2009
      £m £m

Investments      201.9  274.7
Cash at bank      27.5  61.9
Debtors      49.9  31.6
Total      279.3  368.2

During the year end 30 September 2010 a provision of £91.5 million (2009: nil) was made against the carrying value of the loans 
to subsidiaries undertakings to write down their carrying value to their estimated recoverable amount of £201.9 million.

As at 30 September 2010 nil debtors were impaired (2009: nil). As at 30 September 2010, nil debtors were overdue but not 
impaired (2009: nil).

With respect to credit risk arising from cash at bank, the majority of the counterparties are investment grade or above.

d) Liquidity risk
The table below represents the maturity profile of contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay. 
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10. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

     Amounts due to Trade and 
     subsidiaries undertakings other payables 
At 30 September 2010     £m £m

In one year or less      –  0.6
In more than one year, but not more than two years     –  –
In more than two years, but not more than three years     34.4  –
Total contractual cash flows      34.4  0.6
Carrying amount      34.4  0.6

     Amounts due to Trade and 
     subsidiaries undertakings other payables 
At 30 September 2009     £m £m

In one year or less      –  2.6
In more than one year, but not more than two years     33.5  –
In more than two years, but not more than three years     –  –
Total contractual cash flows      33.5  2.6
Carrying amount      33.5  2.6

e) Fair value
Due to the short maturities of cash at bank, debtors and creditors, the fair value approximates to their book value.
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List of Properties

Town  Address  Value band Area (sq m) Tenant/occupier

UNITED KINGDOM
Aberdeen  Atholl House 
 Guild Street, Aberdeen AB11 6AR B  5,110  First Secretary of State
Aberdeen  Lord Cullen House
 Fraser Place, Aberdeen AB25 3TP B  3,046  Health and Safety Executive
Aberdeen  Site WT19
 West Tullos Industrial Estate, Aberdeen AB12 3LQ A 4,148 Aberdeen City Council
Acton  Armstrong Road
 London W3 7JL B  3,790  Secretary of State for Environment
Barnsley  Cooper House
 59 Peel Street, Barnsley S70 2RL  A  2,016  Secretary of State for Environment
Basildon  Great Oaks House
 Great Oaks, Basildon SS14 1JE  B  5,077  Secretary of State for Environment
Bedford  Woodlands
 Manton Industrial Estate, Manton Lane,  
 Bedford, Bedfordshire MK41 7LW  C  10,398  Highways Agency
Bedford  Chailey House   Secretary of State for Transport, 
 30 Cardington Road, Bedford,  
 Bedfordshire MK42 0EX  A  1,546  Local Government and the Regions
Billingham  Theatre Buildings
 Kingsway, Billingham TS23 2NA A  648  Secretary of State for Environment
Birkenhead  Great Western House
 Chester Street, Woodside, Birkenhead CH41 6DA B  7,752  Secretary of State for Environment
Birmingham  Aqueous 2
 Aqueous Business Village, Birmingham B6 5RQ B  3,408  Secretary of State for Health
Birmingham  2308 Coventry Road, Sheldon,     Secretary of State for Transport,  
 Birmingham B26 3JZ A  2,693 Local Government and the Regions
Bradford  Centenary Court
 St Blaise Way, Bradford BD1 4DB D  9,769  Secretary of State for Environment
Bradford  Phoenix House
 Rushton Avenue, Thornbury, Bradford BD3 7BH B  3,637  First Secretary of State
Bridgwater  Hanover House
 Northgate Street, Bridgwater, Somerset TA6 3HG A  1,944  Secretary of State for Environment
Bristol  31-49 Newfoundland Street  
 & 1 Newfoundland Court, Bristol BS2 9AP A  2,947  Secretary of State for Health
Bristol Crescent Centre 
 Temple Back, Bristol BS1 6EZ C 8,180 HMRC
Bromley  Unicorn House
 28 Elmfield Road, Bromley BR1 1NX C  5,365  Secretary of State for Environment
Cardiff  Rivers House
 Fortran Way, St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 0EY A  2,010  Environment Agency
Cardiff  Ty Cambrian House
 29 Newport Road, Cardiff CF24 0TP B  3,201  Environment Agency
Carlisle  Rufus House
 Castle Street, Carlisle CA3 8RX A  2,545  Secretary of State for Environment
Chatham  The Observatory   Secretary of State for Transport, 
 Brunel, Chatham Maritime, Kent ME4 4NT A  1,993  Local Government and the Regions
Chelmsford  Wren House
 Hedgerows Business Park, Chelmsford,  
 Essex CM2 5FP A  1,287  First Secretary of State
Chester  Chantry House
 55, 57 and 59 City Road  
 & 28 Crewe Street, Chester CH1 3AQ A  3,219  Secretary of State for Environment
Chippenham  Cyppa Court
 Avenue La Fleche, Chippenham, Wiltshire SN15 3ER A  1,167  Secretary of State for Environment
Croydon  St Anne House   Secretary of State for Transport, 
 20-26 Wellesley Road, Croydon C  6,808  Local Government and the Regions
Dalkeith  7/15 Buccleuch Street, Dalkeith EH22 1HB A  661  First Secretary of State
Dundee  Lindsay House 
 18/30 Ward Road, Dundee DD1 1QB A  3,672  Secretary of State for Environment
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Investors

Town  Address  Value band Area (sq m) Tenant/occupier

UNITED KINGDOM
Dundee  Sidlaw House   Secretary of State for Transport,  
 4 Explorer Road, Dundee DD2 1DX B  5,502  Local Government and the Regions
Edgbaston  2 Duchess Place, Edgbaston B16 8NS   Secretary of State for Transport,  
   B  4,309  Local Government and the Regions
Edinburgh 1A Parliament Square  
 Edinburgh EH1 1RF B 2,069 City of Edinburgh Council
Edinburgh  Ladywell House 
 Ladywell Road, Edinburgh EH12 7TB B  4,728  Secretary of State for Environment
Gillingham DSA Centre  
 Astra Park, Courtneney Road, Gillingham,   Secretary of State for Communities 
 Kent ME8 0EZ A 1,295 and Local Government
Grays  2 Derby Street, Grays RM16 8QQ A  1,112  Secretary of State for Environment
Harrow  Lyon House 
 Lyon Road, Harrow HA1 2DG B  9,246  Secretary of State for Environment
Hartlepool  Ward Jackson House 
 Raby Road, Hartlepool TS24 8AA A  1,935  Secretary of State for Environment
Ipswich  St Clare House 
 Princes Street, Ipswich IP1 1PH B  7,667  Secretary of State for Environment
Leeds 21/22 Park Place and 71/77 St Paul’s Street 
 Leeds LS1 4UR B 3,639 Secretary of State for Environment
Leeds  Castle House 
 Lisbon Street, Leeds LS1 4LX D  7,271  Secretary of State for Environment
Leeds St George House 
 40 Great George Street, Leeds LS1 3DL C 4,191 Leeds City Council
Leeds  Waterside Court  
 Kirkstall Road, Leeds LS4 2DD B  3,344  Secretary of State for Environment
Liverpool  Prudential Buildings 
 36 Dale Street, Liverpool L2 5UZ A  2,309  Her Majesty’s Court Services
Manchester  1009 Oldham Road, Newton Heath, 
 Manchester M40 2EP A  1,433  Secretary of State for Environment
Newcastle  Centralofts   Secretary of State for Communities 
Upon Tyne 1 Waterloo Square, Newcastle Upon Tyne NE1 4DR A  521  and Local Government
Northampton  St Katherine’s House 
 50 Gold Street, Northampton NN1 2LG A  2,703  Secretary of State for Environment
Norwich  1 Theatre Street, Norwich NR2 1RG A  816  Department for Works and Pensions
Oldham  Tweedale House 
 75 Union Street, Oldham OL1 1LH A  1,916  Environment Agency
Paisley  47/51 High Street, Paisley PA1 2AN A  1,293  Secretary of State for Environment
Peterborough  Clifton House Broadway  
 & 126/128 Park Road, Peterborough PE1 1QZ B  5,503  Secretary of State for Environment
Plymouth  Bretonside 
 Exeter Street, Plymouth C  5,700  Secretary of State for Environment
Plymouth  Brooklands Office Campus 
 Plymouth PL6 5XR A  1,813  Secretary of State for Environment
Plymouth  West Point and Centre Court, Plymouth PL4 8AA A  2,590  Secretary of State
Redcar  Portland House 
 West Dyke Road, Redcar TS10 1DH A  883  Secretary of State for Environment
Rochdale  Pilsworth Road 
 Heywood, Rochdale  C  9,173  Secretary of State
Rotherham  Bradmarsh Business Park 
 Bow Bridge Close, Rotherham S60 1BY A  1,340  Environment Agency
St Asaph  Netcom House 
 St Asaph LL17 0JG B  2,381  North Wales Police Authority
St Helens  Gregson House 
 2 Central Street, St Helens WA10 1UF A  2,828  Secretary of State for Environment
Salford Quays  Units 1 & 2 Dallas Court   
 South Langworthy Road, Salford Quays M50 2GF A  1,536  Secretary of State for Environment
Sheffield  Kings Court 
 Hanover Way, Sheffield, S3 7UF C  5,037  Secretary of State for Environment
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List of properties continued

Town  Address  Value band Area (sq m) Tenant/occupier

UNITED KINGDOM
Smethwick  Trinity House  
 High Street, Smethwick, B66 3AD A  1,151  Secretary of State for Environment
Southampton  St Cross House  
 18 Bernard Street, Southampton SO14 3PJ B  3,993  Secretary of State for Environment
Southwark  Coburg House 
 63/67 Newington Causeway, London SE1 6LS A  2,211  Secretary of State for Environment
Sparkhill  Heynesfield House 
 Stoney Lane, Sparkhill B12 8AF A  1,088  Secretary of State for Environment
Swansea  Unit 5   Secretary of State for Transport,  
 Sandringham Park, Swansea Vale, Swansea SA7 0AA A  2,795  Local Government and the Regions
Swindon  Delta 900    
 Delta Business Park, Great Western Way,  
 Swindon SN5 7XQ A  2,833  Secretary of State for Environment
Telford  Sapphire House 
 Stafford Park 10, Telford TF3 3AB B  8,327  Secretary of State for Environment
Uxbridge  The Grange 
 Uxbridge County Court, Uxbridge UB4 8HL A  1,066  First Secretary of State
Uxbridge DSA Unit   Secretary of state for Communities 
 Kier Park, Cowley Mill Road, Uxbridge UB8 2GG B 1,245 and Local Government
Watford  Exchange House 
 60 Exchange Road, Watford WD18 0GG C  5,846  Secretary of State for Environment
Weymouth Westwey House   Secretary of state for Communities 
 Westwey Road, Weymouth, Dorset DT4 8TG A 2,792 and Local Government
Wigan Atherleigh Business Park   Secretary of State for Communities 
 Atherton, Wigan M46 0RH A 116 and Local Government
Wigan  Brocol House 
 King Street, Wigan WN1 1EA A  4,127  Secretary of State for Environment
Wolverhampton  Temple House 
 Temple Street, Wolverhampton WV2 4AU A  2,551  Secretary of State for Environment
Wolverhampton  Molineux House  
 Temple Street, Wolverhampton,  
 West Midlands WV2 4AN A  3,013  Secretary of State for Environment
York  Kettlestring Lane 
 Clifton Moor, York YO30 4XF A  2,155  First Secretary of State
 
 
CONTINENTAL EUROPE
Berlin  Margrafenstrasse  
 17/18, 10969 Berlin, Germany C  7,173  VBG
Cologne  Kolner Strasse 20 
 51429 Berisch-Gladbach, Cologne, Germany C  8,240  VBG
Dresden  Wiener Platz  
 01069 Dresden, Germany D  17,449  VBG
Halle an  Thuringer Strasse 
der Saale Halle an der Saale, Germany D 34,689  State of Saxony-Anhalt
Stuttgart  Martin-Luther-Strasse 79 
 71636 Ludwigsburg, Stuttgart D  12,455  VBG
The Hague  Haagse Veste 1 
 The Hague, Netherlands D  12,878  Royal Dutch Government

Value bands 
A £0-5 million
B £5-10 million
C £10-20 million
D >£20 million



Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010

73

Investors

Five Year Review

    30 September  30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
      2010  2009 2008 2007 2006

Financial      
Revenue £m  44.3 44.8 42.0 33.1 24.2
Profit Before Tax      
 Trading Operations £m  9.8 9.5 10.7 11.6 8.0
 Total £m  16.8 (73.5) (130.0) (9.6) 53.0
Earnings per share      
 Current basis*      
 – Trading Operations Pence  0.90 0.86 6.98 7.67 5.33
 – Total Pence  1.60 (7.10) (95.21) (6.64) 35.7
 As reported**      
 – Trading Operations Pence  0.90 6.15 7.8 9.7 8.1
 – Total Pence  1.60 (50.99) (98.2) (8.4) 54.2
 Net Assets £m  59.0 47.4 118.0 276.7 211.4
 Gearing Percentage  806 901 403 146 117
Net Assets per Share      
 Current basis* Pence  5.56 4.49 11.1 26.0 19.9
 As reported** Pence  5.56 4.49 88.9 208.5 217.2
 
UK Portfolio     
Number of properties   75 68 72 72 61
Total area Square metres  259,429 245,833 246,307 244,776 208,734
Annualised total rent £m  34.0 32.0 33.0 32.5 27.3
Valuation £m  437.3 371.6 446.6 526.3 455.8
Average Rent £ per sq metre  130.42 129.77 135.39 132.80 130.80
Occupancy Percentage  95 99 99 98 99
       
Continental European Portfolio     
Number of properties   6 7 7 6 –
Total area Square metres  92,884 95,181 95,181 77,314 –
Annualised total rent £m  11.1 12.3 9.8 7.8 –
Valuation £m  136.2 155.3 151.3 147.1 –
Average Rent £ per sq metre  119.76 129.31 102.96 100.73 –
Occupancy  Percentage  100 100 100 100 –

*  The Current basis figures are calculated on the average and closing number of ordinary shares in issue for the financial year ending 30 September 2010.
** The As reported figures are those as published in prior periods.



Wichford P.L.C.
Annual Report 2010
74

Company Information

Directors (All Non-Executive)
Phillippe de Nicolay (Chairman)
David Harrel
Ita McArdle (Senior Independent 
Director)
Richard Melhuish
Mark Sheardown
Mark Taylor (Chairman of the Audit 
Committee) 

Company Secretary
Anne Couper Woods 

Assistant Company Secretary
Sarah Marshall 

Investment Adviser
Wichford Property Management 
Limited
Second Floor
11 Haymarket
London
SW1Y 4BP

Registrars
Capita Registrars (Isle of Man) Limited
3rd Floor
Exchange House
54-62 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM1 1JD 

Joint broker
Peel Hunt Ltd
111 Old Broad Street
London EC2N 1PH 

Joint broker
Evolution Securities Limited
100 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN 

Isle of Man administrator
Simcocks Trust Limited
Top Floor
14 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM1 1JA 

Isle of Man advocates
Simcocks Advocates Limited
Ridgeway House
Ridgeway Street
Douglas
Isle of Man M99 1PY 

UK solicitors
SJ Berwin LLP
10 Queen Street Place
London EC4R 1BE 

Independent Auditor
KPMG
1 Harbourmaster Place
IFSC
Dublin 1
Ireland 

UK valuers
Savills Commercial Limited
20 Grosvenor Hill
London W1K 3HQ 

Continental European valuers
DTZ
8 rue de l’Hotel de Ville
92522 Neuilly-sur-Seine
France 

Isle of Man bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland 
International Limited
Royal Bank House
Victoria Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM99 1NJ 

UK bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
10 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7AE

Bank of Scotland Plc
38 Threadneedle Street
London EC2P 2HL  

German bankers
ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
Niederlassung Deutschland
Theodor-Heuss-Allee 80
60486 Frankfurt am Main
Germany 

Deutsche Bank
Wilhelmstrasse 20-22
65185 Wiesbaden
Germany 

Luxembourg bankers
BGL
27 avenue Monterey
L-2951
Luxembourg 

French bankers
ING Belgium S.A. Succursale en 
France
24/26 blvd Carnot
59042 Lille
France 

Registered Office
Top Floor
14 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM1 1JA 

Incorporated and registered  
in Isle of Man
No. 111198C
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Glossary of Terms

Active Properties
The UK properties which have lease 
terms of less than seven years to 
expiry or a possible lease break date at 
the tenant’s option

BCM
Brown Cooper Marples Limited

CMBS
Commercial Mortgage-Backed 
Securitisation

Combined Code
The Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council in June 2008

Continental Europe Portfolio
Portfolio of properties in Europe but 
not in the UK

Core Properties
The UK properties which have lease 
terms of seven years or more to expiry 
or a possible lease break date at the 
tenant’s option

Gearing
The Group’s net debt as a percentage 
of net assets

ICR
Interest Cover Ratio

Index linked
Where a government published index 
is used as the mechanism to determine 
increases in rent from the tenant. An 
example of such an index is the United 
Kingdom Consumer Price Index

IPD
Investment Property Databank, an 
independent organisation that issues 
real estate performance indices

Investment Adviser
WPML

LTV
Loan to Value

Main Market
Main Market of the London Stock 
Exchange plc

Management Company
WPML

Net Initial Yield
The percentage of the current annual 
rents to the valuation of the properties 
after including a potential purchaser’s 
estimated acquisition costs

Other Items
Includes the profits and losses on the 
sales of investment properties and 
items of a non-trading, non-cash 
nature such as valuation adjustments 
arising from the fair valuing of 
investment properties and derivative 
financial statements

Redefine Property Management
Collective reference to Redefine 
Investment Managers (UK) Limited 
(owner of WPML) and Redefine 
International plc (largest shareholder  
of the Company) both of whom are 
ultimately owned by Redefine 
Properties Ltd, the second largest 
listed property investment company  
in South Africa

RIFML
Redefine International Fund Managers 
Limited

Trading Operations 
This excludes the Other Items and 
reflects the trading activities of the 
Group

UK Portfolio
Portfolio of properties in the UK with 
each property classified on length of 
leases to either the Core Properties or 
the Active Properties

WAULT
Weighted Average Unexpired Lease 
Term. This is the average of all 
remaining periods of the leases to 
tenants for properties taken to the next 
break date or end of lease whichever is 
the sooner; the outstanding lengths of 
these leases are weighted on the 
annual rent of each lease

WPML
Wichford Property Management 
Limited, wholly owned by Redefine 
Investment Managers (UK) Limited
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual 
General Meeting of Wichford P.L.C. (the 
“Company”) will be held at the Company’s 
Registered Office at Top Floor, 14 Athol 
Street, Douglas, Isle of Man, IM1 1JA on 
Thursday 27th January 2011 at 11:00am.

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.  
If you are in any doubt about the action you should take, you should seek your 
own advice from your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other 
professional adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000. If you have sold or otherwise transferred all your ordinary shares of 1 
pence each in Wichford P.L.C., please forward this document, together with 
the accompanying documents, at once to the purchaser or transferee, or to 
the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was 
effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

Registered Office
Top Floor
14 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM1 1JA 

Incorporated in the 
Isle of Man with
registered number 
111198C

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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Resolutions 1 to 10 (inclusive), will be proposed as ordinary 
resolutions, meaning that for each of those resolutions to be 
passed, more than 50 per cent. of the votes cast must be in 
favour of the resolution.  Resolutions 11 and 12 will be 
proposed as special resolutions, meaning that for each of 
those resolutions to be passed, at least 75 per cent. of the 
votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Ordinary Business

Resolution 1: To receive and adopt the Directors’ and 
the Auditors’ Reports and the Company’s audited financial 
statements for the year ended 30 September 2010

Resolution 2: To approve the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report for the year ended 30 September 2010

Resolution 3: To re-elect Mr Sheardown as a Director

Resolution 4: To re-elect Mr Harrel as a Director

Resolution 5: To re-elect Mr Melhuish as a Director

Resolution 6: To re-elect Mr Taylor as a Director

Resolution 7: To declare a final dividend of 0.33 pence 
per Ordinary Share.

Special business

Resolution 8: To re-appoint KPMG as Auditors of the 
Company, the office of which they shall hold until the 
conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting 
and to authorise the Directors to determine the Auditors’ 
remuneration.

Resolution 9: To change the Investment Policy of the 
Company to read:

“Investment Policy
The Company’s investment policy is to invest in properties 
across the UK and Continental Europe with a focus on 
properties with Central and State Government tenants and/
or occupiers. Investment into properties not tenanted by 
Central or State Government tenants will be considered 
where the tenant covenant, lease terms and underlying 
property investment are considered to provide high levels 
of income security.  

Key principles
•  The Company will acquire single properties, property 

portfolios, or special purpose property vehicles.
•  Joint ventures will be considered where the Company will 

benefit from investment, development, capital or other 
expertise provided by appropriate joint venture partners.

•  The properties will generally be held in the long term, but 
may be disposed of and the funds re-invested if this is 
believed to be advantageous to the long-term investment 
performance of the Company.

•  The Company seeks to acquire properties which have 
identified alternative uses and/or potential other 
occupiers.

•  The Company may undertake redevelopment and major 
refurbishment projects to protect and/or enhance the 
value of existing investments. This may include 

investment into property outside of the principal 
investment criteria in order to protect, enhance or extract 
additional value from existing investments.  

Investment restrictions
•  The Company will not acquire any single property which 

has an acquisition value to the Company of greater than 
15 per cent. of the value of the Company’s investment 
portfolio.

•  The Company will not invest in forward funding a 
development on land in which the Company does not 
have an interest without a pre-let agreement to lease.

•  The Company will not invest in properties where the 
purchase price is not supported by an external valuation.

•  The Company will not invest in properties where there are 
known to be material environmental issues.

•  The Company will typically invest in properties in the UK 
with fully repairing and insuring leases.

In addition, pursuant to the Listing Rules the Company is 
subject to the following investment restrictions:
•  The Company must at all times manage its assets in a 

way which is consistent with its object of spreading 
investment risk and is in accordance with the Company’s 
published investment policy.

•  The Company and the other members of the Group must 
not conduct any trading activity which is significant in the 
context of the Group as a whole.

No more than 10 per cent. in aggregate, of the value of the 
total assets of the Company may be invested in other listed 
closed-ended investment funds. 

Gearing
It is the Company’s intention to maintain a blended loan to 
value ratio of between 50 per cent. and a maximum of 85 
per cent. Details of the Company’s borrowing limits under 
its Articles of Association are set out below.

‘The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to 
borrow money, to give guarantees, to mortgage, 
hypothecate, pledge or charge all or any part of the 
undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and 
uncalled capital of the Company and, subject to the 
provisions of the IOM Act and the Articles, to create and 
issue debenture and other loan stock and debentures and 
other securities, whether outright or as collateral security 
for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any 
third party.

Provided that the Board shall restrict the borrowings of the 
Company so as to secure that the aggregate principal 
amount for the time being of all borrowings by the 
Company and for the time being owing to persons outside 
the Company shall not at any time, without the previous 
sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Company exceed 
ten times the aggregate of:

a) the amount paid up on the issued share capital for 
the time being of the Company; and

b) the total of capital and revenue reserves (including 
any share premium account, capital redemption reserve, all 
as shown in the latest balance sheet of the Company)’
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Investment process
The Directors set the investment policy (subject to 
Shareholder approval), parameters and objectives of the 
Company and review and approve each sale or purchase of 
investment assets.

The Company’s Investment Adviser is responsible for 
identifying and reporting to the Directors the availability of 
new investment opportunities that fall within the investment 
policy and objectives. Following the identification of a 
potential new investment opportunity and approval by the 
Directors, The Investment Adviser is responsible for 
negotiating the terms of investment.

It is anticipated that all associated costs and expenses 
incurred by the Company when acquiring or disposing of 
properties, property portfolios or special purpose property 
vehicles will be paid for and capitalised by the Company in 
order to determine the total cost.

Changes to the investment policy
The Company will apply its investment policy to all 
investments made and held by it. Any material changes to 
the investment policy of the Company will only be made 
with the approval of Shareholders by ordinary resolution at 
a general meeting, which will also be notified via a 
regulatory information service provider to London Stock 
Exchange.

If the Company breaches its investment policy (including 
any investment restrictions), the Company will make a 
notification via a regulatory information service provider to 
London Stock Exchange of details of the breach and of 
actions it may or may have taken.

Investor profile
The Directors expect typical investors in the Company to 
be primarily UK based fund managers or sophisticated 
private investors or those acting on the advice of their 
stockbroker or financial adviser, who are looking to allocate 
part of their investment portfolio to the UK and Continental 
European commercial property market.”

Resolution 10: THAT the Directors be hereby generally 
and unconditionally authorised pursuant to the Articles of 
Association of the Company from time to time to allot 
Ordinary Shares and to grant rights to subscribe for or 
convert any security into Ordinary Shares: 

(i) up to a maximum aggregate nominal value of 
£3,539,964.58 (equivalent to 353,996,458 new Ordinary 
Shares); and

(ii) in addition, in connection with a rights issue in 
favour of holders of Ordinary Shares in proportion (as 
nearly as may be practicable) to their respective holdings of 
Ordinary Shares (but subject to such exclusions or other 
arrangements as the Directors consider necessary or 
expedient in connection with treasury shares, fractional 
entitlements or any legal or practical problems arising under 
the laws or regulations of, or the requirements of any 
regulatory body or stock exchange in, any territory) up to a 
maximum nominal amount of £3,539,964.58 (equivalent to 

353,996,458 new Ordinary Shares), in each case for the 
period expiring on the date of the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting to be held in 2012, provided that the Company may 
before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would 
or might require Ordinary Shares to be allotted after such 
expiry and the Directors may allot Ordinary Shares or grant 
rights in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the 
power conferred hereby had not expired.

Resolution 11: THAT the Directors be hereby generally 
authorised and empowered to allot Ordinary Shares as if 
the pre-emption provisions in Article 10 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company did not apply to any such 
allotment, such power (unless and to the extent previously 
revoked, varied or renewed by the Company in general 
meeting) to expire on the date of the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting to be held in 2012 and be limited to:

a) the allotment of Ordinary Shares for cash to 
Shareholders where the shares attributable to the interest 
of such Shareholders are offered (whether by way of rights 
issue, open offer or otherwise) in proportion (as nearly as 
may be practicable) to the respective numbers of Ordinary 
Shares held by them, but subject to such exclusions or 
other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary 
or expedient to deal with any fractional entitlements or any 
legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the 
requirements of any regulatory body or any recognised 
stock exchange in, any country or territory; 

b) the allotment (other than pursuant to (a) above) of 
Ordinary Shares up to a maximum aggregate nominal value 
of £531,047.79 (equivalent to 53,104,779 new Ordinary 
Shares), provided that the authority shall allow the 
Company before its expiry to make offers or agreements 
which would or might require Ordinary Shares to be allotted 
after such expiry and, notwithstanding such expiry, the 
Directors may allot Ordinary Shares in pursuance of such 
offers or agreements.

Resolution 12: THAT the Directors be generally and 
unconditionally authorised to make market purchases 
(within the meaning of Section 13 of the Isle of Man 
Companies Act 1992) of Ordinary Shares on such terms 
and in such manner as the Directors may determine 
provided that:

a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares 
authorised to be acquired is 106,209,558, representing 10 
per cent. of the issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of the 
Director’s Report;

b) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which 
may be paid for any such Ordinary Share is 1 pence, being 
the nominal value of each Ordinary Share;

c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which 
may be paid for any such Ordinary Share is the amount 
equivalent to 105% of the arithmetical average of the 
middle market quotations for an Ordinary Share (as derived 
from the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange 
plc) for the five business days immediately preceding the 
day on which the Ordinary Share is purchased; and
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d) the authority shall expire on the date of the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2012 
(provided that the Company may enter into a contract for 
the purchase of Ordinary Shares before the expiry of this 
authority which would or might be completed wholly or 
partly after such expiry and may make a purchase of 
Ordinary Shares in pursuance of any such contract).”

Registered Office:    
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Top Floor
14 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man
IM1 1JA

Dated this 16th day of December 2010 
Anne Elizabeth Couper Woods
Company Secretary

NOTES
A member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is 
entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote, on a poll 
instead of him.  If a member appoints more than one proxy, each 
proxy must be entitled to exercise the rights attached to different 
shares. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  The 
appointment of a proxy will not preclude a member from attending 
and voting at the meeting in person should he subsequently decide 
to do so.

A Form of Proxy is enclosed for your use if desired.  To be valid, the 
instrument appointing a proxy must be completed and reach the 
Company’s Registrars, Capita Registrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham 
Road, Beckenham, Kent  BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before 
the time of holding the meeting.

In the case of joint holders of Ordinary Shares, the vote of the 
senior shareholder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by 
proxy, will be accepted to the exclusion of the other joint holder(s) 
and for this purpose seniority will be determined by the order in 
which the names stand in the register of members of the Company 
in respect of the joint holding.

To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the 
appropriate box on your proxy form with an ‘X’. To abstain from 
voting on a resolution, select the relevant ‘Vote withheld’ box. A 
vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not 
be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the resolution. 
If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote (or abstain from 
voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is 
put before the meeting.

Any power of attorney or any other authority under which your 
proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or 
authority) must be included with your proxy form.

In the case of a member which is a company, your proxy form must 
be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by a 
duly authorised office of the Company or an attorney for the 
Company.

If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the 
appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt of 
proxies will take precedence.

Nominated Persons (a) Any person to whom this notice is sent who 
is a person nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 
2006 to enjoy information rights (a Nominated Person) may, under 
an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/
she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have 

someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General 
Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment 
right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such 
agreement, have a right to give instructions to the shareholder as to 
the exercise of voting rights. (b) The statement of the rights of 
shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraph 
1 above does not apply to Nominated Persons. The rights 
described in that paragraph can only be exercised by shareholders 
of the Company.

Any member attending the meeting had the right to ask questions. 
The Company has to answer any questions raised by members at 
the meeting which relate to the business being dealt with at the 
meeting unless: 1. to do so would interfere unduly with the 
preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential 
information; 2. the answer has already been given on a website in 
the form of an answer to a question, or 3. it is undesirable in the 
interests of the company or the good order of the meeting to 
answer the question.

Resolutions 3, 4, 5 and 6: To re-appoint Messrs Sheardown, who is 
being proposed as he is required to seek re-election under Article 
90 due to his appointment by the Directors during the year, Harrel, 
Melhuish and Taylor as directors are being proposed as they are 
retiring due to the requirements of Article 95 of the Company’s 
articles of association that one third of the directors shall resign 
each year and may offer themselves for re-election. All of the 
individuals offer themselves for re-election as a Director.

An explanation of resolutions 8 to 12 is set out in Appendix 1 to this 
document.

Pursuant to Regulation 22 of the Uncertificated Securities 
Regulations 2005 of the Isle of Man, the Company specifies that 
only those shareholders of the Company on the register at the 
close of business on 25 January 2011 shall be entitled to attend or 
vote at the Annual General Meeting in respect of the number of 
shares registered in their name at the time.  Changes to the register 
of members after that time will be disregarded in determining the 
rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by 
utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do 
so by utilising the procedures described in the CREST Manual.  
CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, 
and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service 
provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s), who will be able to take appropriate action on their 
behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be 
valid, the appropriate CREST message must be transmitted so as 
to be received by the Company’s agent, Capita Registrars (whose 
CREST ID is RA10) by the specified latest time(s) for receipt of 
proxy appointments.  For this purpose, the time of receipt will be 
taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to 
the message by the CREST Application Host) from which the 
Company agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to 
CREST in the manner prescribed.

Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more 
corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its 
powers as a member provided that they do not do so in relation to 
the same shares.

As at 16 December 2010 (being the last practicable day prior to the 
date of this Notice of Annual General Meeting), the Company’s 
issued share capital consisted of 1,062,095,584 Ordinary Shares, 
carrying one vote each. Therefore, the total voting rights in the 
Company as at 16 December 2010 were 1,062,095,584.

Copies of the letters of appointment for the non-executive directors 
and the Articles of Association of the Company will be made 
available for inspection during normal business hours on any 
weekday (public holiday excepted) from the date of this Notice of 
Annual General Meeting and for at least 15 minutes prior to and 
during the meeting at the registered office of the Company at Top 
Floor, 14 Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man  IM1 1JA.
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Appendix 1 – Explanation of Resolutions 8 – 12  
(Special Business)

Resolution 8: To re-appoint KPMG as Auditors of the 
Company and to authorise the Directors to determine the 
Auditors’ remuneration
The Directors appointed KPMG as Auditors during the year 
following a review of such services and a competitive 
tendering process. As KPMG have not been re-elected by 
the shareholders this ordinary resolution is being proposed 
as part of the Special Business of the meeting pursuant to 
Article 61 of the Company’s articles of Association. In 
subsequent years this resolution will be part of the Ordinary 
Business of the meeting.

Resolution 9: Change of investment policy
The Directors have reviewed the present investment policy 
and have found that, in the present economic conditions, it 
is too restrictive. The change to the proposed investment 
policy will enable investments to include the redevelopment 
of current owned properties which have no or few tenants 
where there is little or no immediate prospects of securing 
new leases on acceptable terms. The revised policy also 
removes the restrictions on the initial cost of purchased 
properties as opportunities may arise to acquire relatively 
small properties adjacent to existing ones that could 
enhance the overall value of the site.

Resolution 10: Allotment of shares
Shareholders’ authority is required for the Directors to allot 
the unissued share capital of the Company. The existing 
authority given by shareholders to the Directors at the 
general meeting on 28 January 2010, is in respect of 
unissued Ordinary Shares having an aggregate nominal 
value of £3,539,964.58, representing 33.33% of the nominal 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company at that time. 
This authority is due for renewal at the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 27 January 2011. The Directors 
consider that this authority should be renewed in respect of 
unissued Ordinary Shares having an aggregate nominal 
value of £3,539,964.58, representing 33.33% of the nominal 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 16 
December 2010 and to expire at the Annual General Meeting 
to be held in 2012. The Directors have no present intention of 
exercising this authority, however, it is considered prudent to 
maintain the flexibility it provides. This proposal is consistent 
with the current recommendations of the Investment 
Committee of the Association of British Insurers (“ABI”).

The ABI has also stated that it will regard as routine 
requests to authorise the allotment of a further 33.33% of 
the issued share capital. This additional share capital may 
only be applied to fully pre-emptive rights issues and such 
an authorisation is only valid until the next Annual General 
Meeting. Where this additional headroom is taken and 
where the aggregate actual usage of the authority exceeds 
one third of the nominal amount and also, in the case of fully 
pre-emptive rights issues, monetary proceeds exceed one 
third of the pre-issue market capitalisation, the ABI will 
expect that all of the Directors wishing to remain in office 
will stand for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting 
following the decision to make the issue in question. The 
Company currently has no intention of carrying out a further 
rights issue. The proposed resolution will give the Directors 

authority to allot a further 33.33% of the unissued share 
capital of the Company in the context of a fully pre-emptive 
rights issue.

Resolution 11: Waiver of pre-emption rights
Article 10 of the Articles of Association of the Company 
grants pre-emption rights to existing shareholders in the 
case of a new allotment of shares. The UK Listing Authority 
does not require the consent of shareholders to each 
specific allotment (made other than to existing shareholders 
on a proportional basis) provided that the authority of 
shareholders to dis-apply generally these provisions is 
obtained. Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is in the 
best interests of the Company for the existing authority 
granted by shareholders at a general meeting on 28 January 
2010 to be renewed for a period expiring at the Annual 
General Meeting to be held in 2012. 

It is proposed that the waiver will be limited by value to 5% 
of the Company’s nominal issued ordinary shares at 16 
December 2010 and so will apply to Ordinary Shares having 
an aggregate nominal value of £531,047.79. This waiver will 
also apply in respect of fractional entitlements and the 
rights of overseas shareholders arising on a rights issue. 
This proposal is consistent with the current 
recommendations of the Investment Committee of the ABI.

Resolution 12: Purchase of own shares
The Articles of Association of the Company empower the 
Company to purchase its own shares. The Directors 
consider it desirable and in the Company’s best interests for 
shareholders to grant the Company authority to exercise 
this power, within certain limits. The Directors have no 
present intention of exercising this power. The authority to 
purchase shares would only be exercised after careful 
consideration by the Directors and as and when conditions 
were favourable, with a view to enhancing earnings per 
share and/or net asset value per share. 

The legislation in the Isle of Man was passed during the year to 
allow companies who bought their own shares to hold them in 
treasury rather than cancel them. The Company may now hold 
such shares as treasury shares which the Company could sell 
for cash. All rights attaching to shares purchased under this 
authority including voting rights and rights to dividends would 
be suspended whilst they are held in treasury.

The Directors propose an authority, to expire at the Annual 
General Meeting to be held in 2012, for the Company to 
purchase its own shares up to a total of 106,209,558 
Ordinary Shares having an aggregate nominal value of 
£1,062,095.58, being 10% of the nominal issued ordinary 
share capital as at 16 December 2010.

Recommendations
The Directors consider that the passing of Resolutions 1 to 
12 is in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders as a whole and accordingly recommend that 
you vote in favour of all the resolutions to be proposed at 
this year’s Annual General Meeting. The Directors intend to 
vote in favour of these resolutions in respect of their own 
share interests, which amount to 680,392 Ordinary Shares, 
representing in aggregate 0.064% of the nominal issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company.

Notice of Annual General Meeting continued



Wichford P.L.C. is a property investment 
company, operated from the Isle of Man, with a 
portfolio of 81 properties occupied principally by 
Central and State Government bodies in both the 
UK and Continental Europe. Our portfolio totals 
over 350,000 sq m (3.8 million sqft) and is 
independently valued at £573.5 million
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